STRATEGIC HOUSING
BOARD
Councillor D J Mote (Chairman)
Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor K J Grehan

A virtual meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 14 October 2020 at 2.00pm

Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Tuesday 6 October 2020

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
AGENDA
Wednesday 14 October 2020 at 2.00pm

Viewing this meeting on YouTube
This meeting may be viewed on YouTube by opening the following link:
https://youtu.be/dk9pekVGJ3I
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the
terms of any Grant(s) of Dispensation by the Audit Board or the
Strategic Director (Internal Services).

3.

Confirmation of the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic
Housing Board held on 29 January 2020 and Matters Arising
(Pages 1 - 6)
To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board
held on 29 January 2020 as an accurate record.

4.

Urgent Items

5.

References from Other Committees

6.

New Housing Strategy for Dartford (Pages 7 - 46)
To consider the development of a new Housing Strategy document
for Dartford.

7.

Council New Build Programme Update (Pages 47 - 50)

8.

Date of Next Meeting and Future Items

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on Wednesday 29
January 2020.
PRESENT:

Councillor David J Mote (Chairman)
Councillor Jeremy A Kite MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Ann D Allen MBE
Councillor Kelly Grehan

Dartford Borough Council Officers:Sheri Green, Strategic Director (External Services)
Peter Dosad, Head of Housing
Jackie Pye, Housing Development & Policy Manager
Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of Regeneration

18.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies for absence.

19.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

20.

CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD HELD ON 16 OCTOBER 2019 AND
MATTERS ARISING
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 16
October 2019 be confirmed as an accurate record.

21.

URGENT ITEMS
There were no urgent items.

22.

REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES
There were no references from other committees.

23.

UPDATE ON GOVERNMENT FUNDING TO SUPPORT HOMELESSNESS
The Strategic Housing Board received an update on funding streams provided
by the Government to local authorities and other organisations to assist in the
prevention and relief of homelessness and on recent funding for
homelessness projects in Dartford. It was noted that Dartford had been
1

Agenda Item 3

Page 2
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020

awarded funding of £362,679 by way of Flexible Homeless Support Grant
(FHSG), £137,140 Homelessness Reduction Grant (HRG) (replacing what
was previously called New Burdens funding) and £106,000 Homeless
Prevention Grant (HPG). The report outlined the initiatives that could be
supported from the funds provided by each grant and in particular the greater
flexibility to prioritise homelessness prevention under FHSG rather than by
utilising the more restrictive temporary accommodation management fee that
could only be used for households that were already homeless. The report
also described the successful joint bid in 2019 for funding under the
Government’s Rough Sleeper initiative, with Gravesham and Swale Borough
Councils, and in conjunction with Look Ahead and Porchlight and how support
was being delivered under that initiative. It was noted that Porchlight had been
able to carry out their complex needs navigator role immediately as they
already had an officer in place but that difficulties had been experienced with
delivering the complex needs and supported housing role. The current bid for
further funding under the Rough Sleeper Initiative envisaged this role being
brought back in-house by each of the Councils and the additional funding that
the Council had bid for would be for Dartford clients only.
The Head of Housing described the innovative work carried out by the
Council’s Housing Hub, working with partners across the sector, which had
proved very successful and had enabled the Council to deliver its full range of
statutory housing responsibilities within the Homeless Reduction Act. This had
been introduced on a pilot basis for two years, which was nearing its end, and
it was proposed to continue with this model as it was working well. He
welcomed the greater flexibility associated with the FHSG and outlined the
intention to appoint 1.5 FTE’s (subject to approval) specifically to support
rough sleeping and to assist rough sleepers during their first year of tenancy,
which often proved challenging. It was noted that since the operation of the
first Winter Shelter the numbers of rough sleepers in the Borough had fallen
from 28 to around 10-11 but that it would be difficult to eradicate rough
sleeping entirely, as for a small number of people, this was a lifestyle
decision. The Board recognised the good work being carried out by the
Council and local partners.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.
24.

DARTFORD HOMELESSNESS
The Strategic Housing Board considered a report which provided background
and context to the annual homelessness statistics for Dartford produced by
Shelter and outlined the measures taken by the Council to manage temporary
accommodation. The report clarified the legal definition of homelessness and
the various different housing circumstances that this could comprise and
explained that the homelessness statistics produced by Shelter were
misleading. The figure produced for Dartford included not only homeless
applicants that had been placed in temporary accommodation by the Council
but also those families transferred to Dartford by London authorities for
2

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020
accommodation and placements made by KCC whilst still counting these
within the figures for the relevant London Borough and KCC. As a result there
was an element of double counting which distorted the figures. Porchlight had
also expressed doubts about the accuracy of the data for Dartford published
by Shelter.
The report explained the different ways in which the Council provided
temporary accommodation to homeless families through privately leased
properties in and outside the Borough. It was explained that it was a Council
policy to not place families with children in Bed & Breakfast accommodation or
in any properties with shared facilities. As at 16 January 2020 there were 88
households placed by the Council in nightly paid temporary accommodation of
which 72 households included children. The vast majority of these households
were in self-contained placements within the Borough but 26 were in out-ofborough placements. Where a household was placed outside of the borough
the Council endeavoured to obtain accommodation for them within the
borough as soon as possible to enable them to move back to Dartford and to
minimise the impact on education, employment and family support networks.
One of the ways in which the Council secured accommodation was via the
Dartford Private Leasing Scheme (DPLS) whereby the Council leased
privately owned accommodation from landlords and the property and
occupants were managed by the Housing Solutions team directly. There were
currently 157 households in DPLS accommodation, 98 of which included
children. All of these properties were located in Dartford and were selfcontained flats and houses. This type of accommodation provided greater
stability than nightly paid-for accommodation could offer thereby benefitting
vulnerable households and mitigating the higher cost of nightly paid-for
accommodation. This was a significant cost with the net spend on nightly paid
accommodation totalling £824,136 and the net expenditure on DPLS
accommodation totalling £580,781. It was estimated however that the use of
DPLS accommodation offered a saving of c.30% against the cost of using
nightly paid-for accommodation and provided higher quality for housing
clients. The new staff resources, if approved, would enable the team to
increase the DPLS portfolio.
The Head of Housing explained the background to the statistics published by
Shelter on an annual basis which he explained tended to be collated from
responses to freedom of information requests and focussed on children. He
explained that every person in need of temporary housing was important to
the Council but that where people were housed in Dartford by other
authorities the Council had no input to that process and no control over the
quality of the accommodation provided. Where the Council dealt directly with
people in need of accommodation it ensured that the quality of
accommodation was good and that families were always placed in selfcontained accommodation. He explained the operation of the DPLS and how
this enabled the Council to provide decent temporary accommodation at a
lower cost than using nightly-paid for accommodation and that, although the
budget for temporary accommodation was constantly under pressure, the use
of DPLS and other measures meant that the spend for the current year was
3

Agenda Item 3

Page 4
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020

significantly better than the previous year. He explained that it was not always
possible to house people in the Borough, and that where this occurred the
Council tried to find in-borough placements for them as soon as possible. This
situation was not helped by London authorities placing their clients in Dartford
to take advantage of lower rents than were available in their own areas which
then resulted in displacement of local people with housing need. The scope
for using specific properties within the borough was discussed and it was
noted that if opportunities were missed these would be quickly picked up by
other local authorities. The success of the Copperfields scheme was noted.
Members noted the displacement effect caused by the placement of other
authority’s housing clients in the borough and felt that this would be
addressed if the funding followed the client rather than providing an incentive
for the originating authority to seek cheaper rental options in other areas to
meet their statutory obligations.
The Strategic Housing Board recognised that homelessness and the
response to it were complex matters and that statistics could be misconstrued
and noted the ways in which the Council sought to manage the demands
made on housing services.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.
25.

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL SELECT COMMITTEE CALL FOR EVIDENCE AFFORDABLE HOUSING
The Strategic Housing Board was informed that Kent County Council (KCC)
was currently running a Select Committee on Affordable Housing which would
consider how Kent fitted into the national context, the current ways in which
KCC supported the development of new affordable housing across the
county,
and to identify some key areas where KCC could do more to
support the development of affordable housing in Kent. The committee was
taking evidence from a wide array of sources and the Strategic Housing Board
was invited to submit its views as part of this process.
The Board was reminded that in recent years the Council had developed a
build programme for affordable social rented Council housing and had built or
acquired over 90 homes for local people for rent since 2016. Although this
programme was likely to continue on small parcels of surplus council owned
land this was in short supply and it was felt that it could be helpful for the
district councils to work with KCC to identify surplus KCC land or buildings
that could be used to provide affordable social housing. Members were
reminded that Dartford’s planning policies set a target that all qualifying
developments should include a 30% affordable housing element but that
because of the lack of government funding for social rented homes many
developers and housing associations were seeking higher levels of shared
ownership or other forms of home ownership products which might not be
affordable for those on low incomes. It was therefore suggested that KCC
4

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020
could be asked to help lobby MP’s to highlight the need for additional
government funding for social rented homes.
It was noted that although KCC had established a select committee to look at
affordable housing, it had no direct responsibility for housing which was a
Borough/District Council function. As such the select committee could form an
opinion but not determine or implement a solution. It was also noted that KCC
was often reluctant to dispose of surplus land and that there were sometimes
good reasons why KCC should retain land, notably for school provision.
Where it did dispose of land KCC usually demanded the market price rather
than ‘best consideration’. It was also noted that Parish Council’s had
significant landholdings and that it might be possible for them to release land
for housing.
The Board felt that it would be beneficial if KCC adopted a similar ‘risk
appetite’ in housing matters to that of the Council and that it should be clearly
established that if KCC did release land there should be no diminution of its
obligations to provide infrastructure to support development. It was also noted
that KCC might need to take a different approach to releasing land that could
be needed for education purposes. The Board felt that it would be helpful if a
protocol could be established between KCC and the District/Borough Councils
to give them first refusal on surplus land disposals and to drop the
requirement for KCC to obtain market price rather than best consideration, or
a value between the two. It was also felt that KCC tended to hold a
homogenous view of the Districts and did not understand the differing needs
of various areas.
RESOLVED:
That the Head of Housing Services should prepare a response to the KCC
Select Committee on Affordable Housing, in consultation with the Strategic
Director (External Services) and the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the
Strategic Housing Board, as proposed in the report and incorporating the
views expressed by the Board.
26.

DARTFORD STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD MOSAIC
The Strategic Housing Board considered the first draft of the Dartford Housing
Mosaic. The Chairman explained that this was a work-in-progress and had
attempted to identify the main categories of people seeking housing in
Dartford and various scenarios. It would be necessary to drill-down into these
in greater detail with a view to producing further narrative and links that could
be incorporated into web pages. He explained that in preparing the mosaic he
had considered the contents of Dartford’s Local Plan and felt that these were
fully reflected. The Vice-Chairman felt that the mosaic had principally
focussed on the Council’s responsibilities rather than looking at the wider
housing market which he believed had been agreed at the last meeting. To
this end the mosaic needed to include other aspects of interest to people
contemplating living in Dartford, such as services for businesses seeking to
set up in the area and parents who might be interested in finding out about
5

Agenda Item 3

Page 6
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
WEDNESDAY 29 JANUARY 2020

local schools and support services. The mosaic also needed to be frank and
honest. In terms of the ex-servicemen, for example, it might point to support
available from other organisations that might be in a better position to offer
advice and support. The same might apply to ex-offenders who might be
seeking housing. The Chairman explained that these themes could be picked
up within the wider narratives and by the provision of suitable links. It was
suggested that some of these might best be addressed by including case
studies by way of illustration.
The Chairman thanked Members for their comments and asked to be sent
any further comments after the meeting. He would reflect these in the next
iteration of the mosaic and look at developing the narratives and case studies.
27.

PROGRESS
WITH
THE
BELLWAY
'COPPERHOUSE
DEVELOPMENT AND DATE OF NEXT MEETING

GREEN'

The Vice-Chairman informed the Board that he had attended the opening day
for the marketing of apartments at the Bellway ‘Copperhouse Green’
development in the town centre. This had been very successful and had
attracted 280 visitors with 24 sales on the day. He noted that 81% of the
visitors came from within 10 miles of Dartford. He said that he was optimistic
that there would be opportunities for closer working with Bellway and the
positive impact that the development would have on the town centre.
The Strategic Housing Board noted that the next meeting was scheduled to
take place on 25th March. [Post meeting note: the date of the next meeting
has been moved to 2.00pm on Wednesday 1st April 2020]

The meeting closed at 3.27 pm

Councillor D Mote
CHAIRMAN

6

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
14 OCTOBER 2020
PROPOSAL TO DEVELOP A NEW HOUSING STRATEGY FOR DARTFORD

1. Summary.
1.1. This report considers the development of a new Housing Strategy document for
Dartford.
2. RECOMMENDATION
2.1. That consideration be given to the development of a new Housing Strategy for
Dartford, included key themes for the Strategy.
3.

Background and Discussion

3.1.

The Council last developed a Housing Strategy in 2009, which ran until 2013. At
the time, government required all local authorities to develop a housing strategy,
which set out their key priorities for action across their housing service. The
Housing Strategy went through a formal assessment process by government to
ensure it was ‘fit for purpose’. It was also monitored by government. In or around
2012, the statutory requirement on local authorities to have a housing strategy was
repealed.

3.2.

Following the end of statutory requirement to produce a strategy, and a restructure
of the Housing Policy team after two Housing Policy Officers left the Council and
were not replaced in 2014, it was decided that resources were better targeted
elsewhere on mandatory policies and strategies, e.g. the Homelessness Strategy
etc. and since then, the Council has not produced a new Housing Strategy.

3.3.

As time has passed and the situation has changed, it is felt that now is a good time
to write a Housing Strategy. This will be assisted by the fact that the Housing Policy
team has now recruited a Policy Officer to assist with the development of this
Strategy and a number of different tasks across the Housing Service.

3.4.

Since the implementation of the last Strategy there have been significant changes
to the housing landscape.

3.5.

A summary of the key changes and impacts on the housing service are outlined
below:
 Local Authorities have been given greater abilities to directly build following
the lifting of the HRA borrowing cap.
 Concerns about housing affordability and insufficient supply of genuinely
affordable housing to match the demand have increased.
 There is continued shortage of properties at social rent and privately rented
properties at LHA rate or below, accessible to those claiming social
security/benefit.

Agenda Item 6

Page 8
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
14 OCTOBER 2020







As a result of the pressures on homelessness services, the need for
temporary accommodation is increasing.
Major legislative change has been brought about by the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017, which has resulted in a major change in how the
homelessness service runs, and an increased demand for advice & support
services.
Welfare reform measures over the last five years have impacted those on
low incomes, particularly in relation to the introduction and roll-out of
Universal Credit.
Landlord licensing has been widely introduced to improve the private rented
sector. There has been an increase in the powers held by local authorities
to prosecute illegally acting landlords through the use of civil penalty
notices.

3.6.

A new Housing Strategy would consider the challenges and opportunities that the
current and expected future economic and legislative conditions create. It can
respond to these changes by outlining key priorities for the Council and how they
might be tackled and actioned. The Strategy could also be used as a guide for
partners, including housing associations, voluntary agencies and developers to
help gain an understanding of Dartford’s key housing priorities over the coming
years.

3.7.

The previous Housing Strategy contained five main themes:
 Increase the supply of affordable homes across the borough.
 Prevent homelessness.
 Improve homes and neighbourhoods.
 Improve housing conditions in the private sector and reduce the number of
empty homes.
 Ensure that all residents have fair and equal access to housing.

3.8.

The Strategic Housing Board is asked to consider the merits of developing a new
Housing Strategy for Dartford and to discuss what key themes could be included.
A copy of the last Housing Strategy is attached at Appendix A for information.

4.
4.1

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
To support the Council’s overall vision to make Dartford ‘the place of quality and
choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time.

4.2

To support the strategic aim to facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing
market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality services
to service users; and to create strong and self-reliant communities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments
Financial Implications

None

Legal Implications

None

Staffing Implications

None

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
14 OCTOBER 2020
Administrative Implications None specifically at this stage
Risk Assessment

N/A

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable.
7. Appendices
Appendix A – Dartford Housing Strategy 2009
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section
Exempt
and
Information
Directorate Category

Jackie Pye
(01322) 343683

Housing/
External
Services

N/A

Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Page 11

Housing Strategy 2009-2012

Agenda Item 6

Dartford Borough Council

Agenda Item 6

Page 12

Contents
Foreword by Councillor Jeremy Kite, Leader of the Council

2

1. Dartford’s successes 2004-2009

3

2. The Government’s commitment to housing

4

3. How did we develop this Strategy?

4

4. Dartford’s profile
• Setting the scene
• Our corporate vision for Dartford
• Homelessness in Dartford
• Young people’s housing needs
• Olders persons’ housing needs
• Private sector housing
• Private sector renewal
• How are we tackling empty properties?
• How are we tackling domestic abuse?

6

6. Regeneration and partnerships
• Ensuring our communities are sustainable
• Investment in Dartford

13

7. Improving homes, services and neighbourhoods
• Decent Homes
• Community safety
• The role of the new Tenant Services Authority

15

8. Supporting our community
• Vulnerable people
• The Equality Agenda
• Responding to the diverse housing needs of the community
• Disabled adaptations
• Lifetime homes
• Kent Learning Disability Housing Action Plan
• BME community
• Migrant workers
• Gypsies and Travellers

17

9. Monitoring our Strategy

22

Appendix 1: Our strategic objectives

23

Appendix 2: Your questions answered

24

Action plan: Strategic housing priorities and targets for 2009 to 2012

28

Agenda Item 6

11

Page 13

5. Affordable housing and balancing the housing market
• Affordable housing
• Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
• Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
• Choice Based Lettings

1

Foreword

Dartford is still undergoing a significant period
of change, both in its physical structure and its
demographic profile. The Borough is
experiencing substantial development, and an
influx of new residents will impact on our
existing communities.
This period of change presents a unique
opportunity to create, within the Borough,
vibrant and economically sustainable
communities which retain what is already good
but also create and nurture opportunities for
residents and tenants to improve their lives and
the environments in which they live without
fear of anti-social behaviour.
We cannot achieve all of our objectives alone.
Our partners, which include voluntary and

2

Our ultimate aim is to give Dartford residents
the opportunity to aspire towards home
ownership. To this end we will continue to
deliver traditional models of affordable housing
with a clear local focus based on identified
need, whilst still providing for those that cannot
afford to rent or buy privately. However, we will
also take into account current market
conditions and how we can best respond to a
changing and unstable housing market, giving
people the best housing options and advice
available to help through these difficult and
uncertain times.
We are a forward thinking and innovative
authority, with our Landlord and Strategic
housing services rated as ‘fair’ one star by the
Audit Commission in 2005 and December 2008,
with promising prospects for improvement.
Following the inspection, we are committed to
delivering tangible benefits for residents. Our
residents should receive nothing less than the
very best in facilities and services for which the
Council is responsible.

Page 14

House prices are still beyond the reach of many
and it has become increasingly difficult for
people to get a foot on the housing ladder. We
are keen to explore innovative solutions that
meet the needs of the community and it is our
view that Dartford’s approach to housing must
go hand in hand with economic development
and regeneration. Such plans will be set out in
the new planning framework which will be
brought forward over the next two years.

public sector agencies alongside private sector
organisations, bring highly valued expertise and
investment to the Borough. Harnessing the skills
of a wide range of groups and individuals,
including Council Members and staff, is also
central to our working.

Agenda Item 6

I am delighted to introduce
our Housing Strategy for
Dartford. This is an
important statement which
sets out our intentions over
the next three years and
how we intend to enable
the delivery of housing to
residents. Our new look
Strategy focuses on our achievements as well as
our plans, reflecting the change that is
happening in Dartford and from feedback from
our partners and residents. As a result, I hope
that you find the new format easier to read and
more informative.

1. Dartford’s successes 2004-2009
Since our last Housing Strategy was published
we have made some significant improvements in
our priority areas and completed a number of
important surveys to help us understand the
housing needs of the borough and obtain an up
to date picture of the condition of both our
council housing stock and private sector housing.
Progress has also been made in homelessness
with the ongoing implementation of our
Homelessness Strategy and changes to the way
the Housing Options and Advice team operate,
with a greater focus on prevention measures.
Below are some of our achievements, most of
which were actions in the last Housing Strategy,
and some additional actions that have been
taken over the last few years to ensure we
continue to strive to provide the best housing
service possible.

Agenda Item 6

Overall we achieved 79% of our targets from
the last Housing Strategy.

Other successes that were not included in our
previous action plan:
• We were the first authority in Kent to complete
a Mortgage Rescue case.
• We have established a Sanctuary Scheme to
assist people suffering from domestic abuse.
• We have worked in partnership with Cubfields
to provide supported accommodation to
young people; ending the use of bed and
breakfast type accommodation for this client
group.
• We have set up a joint Dartford and
Gravesham Learning Disability Housing Group
to implement the Kent Housing Action Plan
for People with a Learning Disability.
• We were successful in attracting £348,394 of
funding from the Regional Housing Board to
assist in private sector renewal.
• We facilitated an evening Housing Forum for
over 1000 applicants on the Housing register.
Applicants were able to obtain housing advice
from all representatives. Including Moat
Homebuy, Avenue Lettings, Breeze Residential
Lettings and Invicta Telecare and discuss their
individual circumstances.
• We hosted a successful ‘Homebuy’ event in
partnership with Moat Housing Group where
residents came to get expert advice on their
home ownership and mortgage options
• We carried out training for front line staff on
equality and diversity ahead of the 2010
equalities legislation.

Page 15

• We achieved an A grade (the highest
possible rating) from KCC Supporting People
for our older person’s supported housing
service in 2008.
• We are on target to make all our properties
‘Decent’ by 2010.
• We achieved a one star rating from the Audit
Commission with promising prospects for
improvement for both our Landlord and
Strategic Housing Service in 2005 and 2008.
• We have up to date information on our
housing needs and the housing market and
have completed a Strategic Housing Market
Assessment and Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment.
• We reviewed our Homelessness Strategy and
produced a new Strategy in 2008 and set up
a multi agency implementation group to
monitor the progress of the Strategy.
• We set up a multi-agency one stop shop for
those suffering from domestic abuse in 2008.
• We developed a Young Persons’ Housing
Strategy.
• We developed an Older Persons’ Housing
Strategy.
• We developed a Empty Homes Strategy.

• We developed a Domestic Abuse Housing
Strategy.
• We have returned 161 empty homes back into
use since 2004.
• We developed a Private Sector Renewal
Strategy following a comprehensive private
sector stock condition survey.
• A Property Accreditation Scheme is in place
• 806 new affordable homes completed since
2003/2004.
• We enabled 30% affordable housing on
qualifying development sites.
• We implemented a Kent wide choice based
lettings scheme, the largest cross boundary
CBL scheme in the country.
• We introduced Introductory and Demoted
tenancies to assist in the reduction of antisocial behaviour.
• Our Family mediation services prevented 127
cases of youth homelessness.
• Our Deposit Guarantee Scheme helped 212
people access the private rented sector.
• Our Goodwill Payment Scheme prevented 82
people from becoming homeless in
2008/2009.
• Our Dartford Private Sector Leasing scheme
now has 40 properties in its portfolio that
can be used as temporary accommodation;
thus preventing the use of B&B.
• We have developed Protocols with social
services for young people and those living
with mental health issues.
• We have improved resident involvement
through new initiatives including
neighbourhood surgeries and regular liaison
meetings with Councillors and Officers.

3

2. The Government’s commitment to housing
The Hills report recognises the significant role
social housing plays for low income households.
It calls for housing policies which accelerate
social mobility and the creation of mixed income
communities. The Cave review examines how
the regulatory system for social housing can be
improved to provide increased support for
tenants while also raising standards of housing
provision.‘Lifetime Homes, Lifetime
Neighbourhoods’ outlines the government’s
intention to ensure that there is appropriate
housing available in future to meet the demands

of an ageing population and to make sufficient
health and social care services available.
The new Housing and Regeneration Act 2008
reaffirms the government’s commitment to
increase the supply of housing and deliver
ecologically friendly homes in mixed and
sustainable communities by 2020. The Act
creates the new Homes and Communities
Agency by merging the Housing Corporation
and English Partnerships.

Agenda Item 6

The government’s Green Paper ‘Homes for the
Future: more affordable more sustainable’
recognises the role that good quality housing
attributes to people’s economic and social well
being and the role it plays in increasing
sustainable communities. The government has
set the target that some three million new
homes should be built by 2020 across the
country and emphasises the need for all new
homes to be carbon neutral by 2016.

3. How did we develop this Strategy?

A number of focus groups and individual
interviews were held with representatives from
a variety of sectors, including:
• Registered social landlords
• Third sector and advocacy and support
agencies

• Private sector landlords and other housing
providers
• Kent County Council and the Primary Care
Trust
• Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum
• Representatives from the black and minority
ethnic community
• Agencies providing services for people with
disabilities
Stemming from the feedback we received and
our own priorities for housing the following key
areas were identified:
• Increase the supply of affordable homes
across the borough
• Prevent homelessness
• Improve homes, services and
neighbourhoods
• Improve housing conditions in the private
rented sector and reduce the number of
empty homes
• Ensure that all residents have fair and equal
access to housing
The consultation events also highlighted the fact
that people were keen to see a ‘living’ strategy

4

Page 16

This Strategy has been developed in full
consultation with a variety of stakeholders
including Dartford Borough Council staff,
residents, Kent County Council, Registered
Social Landlords (RSLs) and a range of agencies
from the voluntary sector.

that was ‘easy to read’, ‘concise’, ‘jargon free’, ‘easy to
follow’ and ‘visually interesting’. We hope that this
Strategy achieves these suggestions.
In order to fully meet our identified priorities,
we have developed a number of sub-strategies
that complement and sit alongside the Housing
Strategy, with each containing their own
specific actions.
The following chart shows how the Housing
Strategy fits into and feeds into a range of other
strategies and plans.

North Kent Multi Area
Agreement

Kent Local Area Agreement –
Kent Area Agreement 2

South East Regional
Housing Strategy

Dartford Borough Council’s
Corporate Plan

The Local Development
Framework

Young Persons’ Housing
Strategy 2009-2012

Active Lives - the ten year
vision for Kent’s Adult Social
Services 2007-2016

Prevent homelessness

Homelessness Strategy
2008-2011

Dartford and Gravesham
Community Safety Plan
2008-2011

Improve homes, services
and neighbourhoods

Domestic Abuse Housing
Strategy 2008-2011

Improve housing conditions
in the private sector and
reduce the number of
empty homes

Empty Homes Strategy
2009-2014

Private Sector Renewal
Strategy 2009-2014
Ensure that all residents
have fair and equal access
to housing

Agenda Item 6

Increase supply of
affordable homes

Kent’s Supporting People
Five Year Strategy 2005-2011

Page 17

Dartford’s
Housing Strategy
2009-2012

Evidence:
Housing Needs Survey
and Housing Market
Assessment 2006
North Kent Gypsy and
Traveller Study 2006
Private Sector House
Condition Survey 2008

Older Persons Housing
Strategy 2009-2014

5

4. Dartford’s profile

Our Housing register currently shows that there
are 3,384 people who are waiting for
accommodation. Of these, 538 (16.4%) are in
priority bands A1-A3 The total number includes

Average house prices in the Borough have
started to fall, although this has been mainly
detached properties. At June 2009 values stood
at £298,085 for a detached property, £207,064
for a semi-detached house, £174,436 for a
terraced house and £131,354 for a flat or
maisonette (Land Registry data, April-June 2009).
See Chart below for a graphical representation
of house price changes since 1999.
In 2008 the average weekly gross income for all
employees (full and part time) who work in
Dartford was £538.50 making an average gross
annual income of £28,002, which is slightly
higher than the South East average of £27,003
(ASHE 2008). Entry level housing for families
and single people is around £78,000 for a one
bedroom flat rising to around £152,000 for a
three bedroom house (Independent survey of
estate agents 2009).

Chart 1: Average price of all properties in Dartford from 1999-2009

In order to secure a mortgage for such
properties, an approximate income of between
£22,500 and £43,500 per annum would be
required based on a multiplier of 3.5 times
income to mortgage ratio.
In June 2009 entry levels for private sector
rented accommodation ranged from
approximately £450 per month for a 1 bedroom
apartment rising to nearly £850 per month for a
3-4 bedroom house (Independent survey of
estate agents 2009).
OUR CORPORATE VISION FOR DARTFORD
The Council’s vision is to make Dartford “the place
of quality and choice, a place where people
choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time.”
The Council’s Corporate Plan 2009-2012 sets out
the vision and priority themes for the Council
and provides a focus for the work of the Council
over the next three years.
The Plan sets out the priorities for Dartford
taking into account council priorities, the Local
Development Framework Core Strategy, the
Sustainable Community Strategy, the Kent
Agreement 2 and the developing North Kent
Multi Area Agreement.
For each priority theme high level objectives
have been set. Each objective has one or more

6

Page 18

In 2001, 20% of the population of the Borough
were aged under fifteen, 42.9% aged 15-44,
22.7% aged 45-64 and 14.5% were 65 and over.
(National Statistics, Census 2001).

those waiting for a transfer from existing
accommodation (24.44%) and applicants from
outside the borough who wish to move to
Dartford (16.46%).

Agenda Item 6

SETTING THE SCENE
Dartford is an historic market town on the River
Darenth, abutting outer London in North West
Kent.The 90,000 residents of the Borough benefit
from the popular Bluewater shopping centre, the
new Ebbsfleet International rail station and easy
access to the M25 and A2. Dartford is situated in a
key position in the Kent Thameside area of the
Thames Gateway and is undergoing a period of
unprecedented growth with economic
regeneration of under-utilised and derelict land,
transforming the area into a major employment
and residential area serving the capital and South
East.The Borough is divided into seventeen wards
with the total number of dwellings being
approximately 38,000 (as at 31 March 2009).

targets and targets are measured by critical
success factors. Service Plans, incorporating
detailed actions to achieve the targets underpin
the Corporate Plan. Progress on meeting the
targets in the Corporate Plan are reviewed by
the Council’s Senior Management Team and
reported to Cabinet at least quarterly.

Chart 2: Number of homeless preventions
carried out

Street homelessness is not considered to be a
problem in Dartford with 0 people identified in
a 2008 Rough Sleeper Count. A further official
count was carried out on 25 November 2009, in
partnership with Porchlight, a homeless
charity, and again there was no evidence of
rough sleeping.

The main reason why people seek assistance
from the Council is because friends, relatives
and parents are no longer willing or able to
accommodate them.
The Housing Options & Advice Team strives to

help people access accommodation whether or
not a person is deemed to be in priority need
under homeless legislation.The Council’s Housing
Advisors and Homeless Prevention Officers are
trained by ‘Shelter’ to provide the best possible
advice.The Council also has a number of
initiatives which are available to prevent a person
having to leave their existing home or to access
alternative accommodation.The Sanctuary
Scheme, for instance, is available to those who
require additional safety features to remain safe in
their own home.There is also a deposit guarantee
scheme, which can be offered to those who wish
to access the private rented sector.The Council
also has a homelessness prevention fund which
can be used flexibly to prevent homelessness. In
addition to the Council’s initiatives, the Council
works actively with agencies such as Porchlight,
YMCA and local estate agents to maximise
options for those who are homeless or
threatened with homelessness.

The development of the Council’s first
Homelessness Strategy signalled a cultural shift
away from a reactive ‘gate keeping’ approach
and rationing of social housing tenancies, to a
strong emphasis on preventing homelessness. It
is underpinned by the following four
fundamental strategic objectives:
• To prevent homelessness, wherever possible,
through maximising the provision of advice
and support to those at risk of homelessness.
• To provide a range of accommodation for

Agenda Item 6

HOMELESSNESS IN DARTFORD
Although the number of homeless acceptances
in Dartford has now started to fall in line with an
increase in the number of homeless preventions
carried out (see chart above right), homelessness
continues to be a priority area for the Council.

How we are tackling homelessness
Dartford Borough Council published its first
Homelessness Strategy in July 2003. In 2004,
external auditors carried out an independent
audit of the strategy, and a revised three-year
strategy was adopted in October 2004.

Page 19

Both the Corporate Plan and the Dartford and
Gravesham Sustainable Community Strategy
develop a vision for housing under the theme
‘Housing and Stronger Communities. The
Strategic aim being to ‘facilitate quality and
choice in the housing market and to create
strong and self reliant communities’. There are
three strategic objectives to support this aim:
• To meet the housing needs of the Borough.
• To promote self reliant communities.
• Increase the percentage of both the private
rented and public housing stock reaching the
Decent Homes standard.
In addition, the Corporate Plan includes the
theme ‘A Council Performing Strongly’ under
which the Council will:
• Deliver high quality services, offering value
for money and demonstrating customer
satisfaction and a culture of continuous
improvement.
• Inform and consult residents and stakeholders
about council services.

approach and to tackle the issues behind
homelessness such as training and
unemployment through working with other
agencies such as the Job Centre, estate agents
and Connexions in order to achieve this.

The future vision for the Housing Options Team
is to move into an Enhanced Housing Options

7

The Council’s third Homelessness Strategy was
published in July 2008 following a comprehensive
review of homelessness in the borough.This
Strategy aims to build on the good foundations
already laid, and looks to further improve the
homeless service provided.
The Strategy is monitored through a
Homelessness Strategy Implementation Group
(HSIG) which consists of a range of key
stakeholder organisations that also assisted in
its development. The group ensure that the
Strategy’s action plan is implemented and
looks to develop initiatives that evolve outside
of the Strategy.
YOUNG PEOPLE’S HOUSING NEEDS
Today, young people face many barriers in
accessing suitable housing due to the lack of
affordable housing and the rising costs of renting
and buying, coupled with the burden of student
debt. Consequently more young people are
choosing to remain at home, with one third of
women, and one half of men aged 20-24 years
living with their parents.Where families are not

8

There are approximately 11,600 young people
aged between 15-24 who live in Dartford and
according to the Council’s homelessness statistics
(2007-2009), approximately one in every 100
were affected by homelessness each year
(excluding family homelessness, where a young
person is a child in a parent child relationship).
The Council’s 2007-2009 homelessness statistics
show that most young people who were owed a
main homelessness duty (that is, they were
eligible to be re-housed by the Council), were
white British, there was also a high proportion of
of young people with dependents, particularly
lone parent female families.The main cause of
homelessness amongst 16-24 yr olds was
because parents were no longer willing to
accommodate them; however reasons for this
may be diverse and complicated, from a
breakdown in the relationship, to issues such as
drug abuse, mental health problems, pregnancy
or overcrowding.
Linked to the problem of youth homelessness, is
that of housing accessibility. In 2006 the housing
needs survey reported that 77% of newly forming
(concealed) households, consisting mainly of
younger people, could not afford to buy a
property in Dartford (this figure may be slightly
lower as of 2009, as house prices have decreased
by approximately 15% since 2006).With increasing
demand on social housing, the Council is only able
to provide housing for the most vulnerable of
young people, with most allocations going to
people in bands A1 and A2 (Choice Based Lettings
priority bandings).The private rented sector is also
largely unaffordable for young people, with
average monthly rents ranging from £450-£650 for
1 and 2 bedroom flats (2009).

Single persons on the Council’s housing register –
mainly younger people – make up 33.78% of the
total number of persons on the register, with the
majority requiring one bedroom accommodation.
Most applicants however, are in non priority
bandings and are unlikely to be accommodated,
given the relatively low availability of existing
rented and new accommodation.
In view of young people’s housing needs, the
Council developed its first Young Persons’
Housing Strategy in 2009; the Strategy identifies
the housing issues of 16-25 year olds in Dartford
and outlines an action plan to tackle these
issues, which is focused around the following
three central objectives:
• To improve housing information and advice.
• To prevent homelessness and repeat
homelessness.
• To improve access to suitable
accommodation.
Actions used to meet these objectives include
developing a website, launching a schools
programme and increasing access to private
rented accommodation through the well
established Deposit Guarantee Scheme and
improved advice and information.
The Strategy is monitored and implemented
through the Dartford and Gravesham Youth
Housing Local Implementation Group which
consists of a number of different agencies,
including Connexions, the Youth Service and
the YMCA.
OLDER PERSONS’ HOUSING NEEDS
By 2026 it is estimated that there will be over
2.3 million more older person households in the
UK. The Council’s Housing Needs Survey shows a
similar trend in Dartford with a predicted 22%
increase in 45-64 year olds and a 20% increase
in the over 65+ by 2016. Further analysis by
Kent County Council (KCC) demographers
suggests that the greatest increase will be

Page 20

This re-focus towards prevention has
subsequently led to some key schemes and
services being implemented, including:
• Deposit guarantee scheme
• Family mediation scheme
• Good-will payment scheme
• Homeless joint protocols
• Sanctuary scheme
• Domestic abuse One Stop Shop
• Private sector leasing scheme (PSL)
• Dartford private leasing scheme (DPLS)

willing or able to assist their children in accessing
housing, young people may be at risk of
becoming homeless. Between 2006/07 it was
reported that 74,075 16-24 year olds were
homeless in the UK.

Agenda Item 6

homeless households and maximise the supply
of affordable housing for all households.
• To ensure there is sufficient and appropriate
support to meet the needs of various client
groups.
• To improve access to health and social care
for homeless people.

among the very elderly (aged over 85), where a
42% increase is anticipated between 2006 and
2016 from 1,200 to 1,700.

Chart 3: Reasons for non compliance with the Decent Homes standard - number of dwellings

The impact of an ageing population will and is
already having a significant impact on services.
National care expenditure alone is reported to
have to increase more than threefold (325 per
cent) by 2041 to meet demographic pressure.
More housing will also be required to meet the
needs of a changing older population, who unlike
previous generations have higher aspirations and
expectations despite (in most cases) living with
increasing disabilities/health problems.

In order to tackle these and other identified needs
the Strategy contains two sets of
recommendations on a short to medium term
basis and longer term (to reach 2015 and beyond).

Failure to provide reasonable modern amenities
Failure to provide effective insulation and/or
efficient heating

We will therefore aim to:
• Undertake an assessment of the current
supported housing stock.
• Look at the possibility of changing the use of
some of the schemes.
• Review the current allocation policy for
supported housing.
• Improve levels of energy efficiency.
In the longer term we will aim to:
• Look for ways to improve quality of private
sector accommodation for older owners.
• Monitor development of retirement villages.
• Provide good quality housing that people
want to live in.
The Strategy’s actions will be monitored and led
by the Council; however the Council will seek to
collaborate with other agencies such as Kent
County Council, Kent Primary Care Trust and
Registered Social Landlords to deliver them.
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING
There are approximately 34,949 private sector
dwellings in Dartford. Most of the properties
are owner occupied (82%), with only 12%
privately rented and 4.5% rented from a

Registered Social Landlord.
In 2008 the Council commissioned consultants to
undertake a survey of 1,045 randomly selected
properties which would be representative of all
house types, ages, tenures and areas in Dartford.
Full survey information was achieved for 996
dwellings, and using this information, it was
estimated that:
• 86.8% (30,345) of all private dwellings in
Dartford meet the requirements of the
decent homes standard, however 6% of these
have category 2 HHSRS hazards.
• 13.2% (4,604) fail the decent homes standard
and 22% also have category 2 HHSRS hazards.
Compared to national figures private properties
in Dartford are in relatively good condition;
whilst 13.2% of dwellings locally are nondecent, nationally 36.3% of properties fail the
decent homes standard.

Agenda Item 6

In order to plan for local changes, the Council
developed its first Older Persons’ Housing
Strategy, which reviews current and future
requirements for housing in all tenures and how
housing may best complement related care
needs. The Strategy, which will be delivered over
five years highlights a particular need for more
specialist housing and two bedroom supported
units. It also raises concerns over whether the
Council’s current supported accommodation
will meet the needs of future generations.

Failure to be in reasonable repair

Page 21

However, in the context of Dartford, there are
currently only 21 older people on the Council’s
housing register waiting for supported
accommodation and 33 waiting for a transfer, 18
of which are from applicants outside of the
borough. This suggests that there is already an
adequate supply of general one bedroom
supported accommodation in Dartford. Overall
2.13% of applicants on the housing register
require supported housing, with some
applicants only waiting months, rather than
years to have an offer of accommodation.

Subject to Category 1 hazards within the
Housing Health and Safety Rating System

The reasons for properties not meeting the
decent homes standard in Dartford are set out
in the chart above.

9

In order to ensure that all properties in Dartford
meet the decent homes standard, the total cost
was estimated as £21.9 million averaging £4,759
per dwelling across the non decent stock.
PRIVATE SECTOR RENEWAL
Cold and damp, high noise levels, poor energy
efficiency, hazardous design and layout are all
housing issues that can have detrimental
impact on residents health and wellbeing.

The Private Sector Renewal Strategy’s priorities and
action plan builds on evidence from the Private
Sector House Condition Survey, the progress of the
previous 2003 Renewal Strategy and new
enforcement powers granted by central
government.The main priorities of the Strategy are:
• To decrease the number of vulnerable people
living in non decent homes
• To decrease the numbers of households who
are in fuel poverty and improve the overall
energy efficiency of the private sector stock
in Dartford
• To ensure that residents live in safe and
healthy homes
Actions used to meet these objectives include:
• Offering loans, repayable grants and other
assistance to the most vulnerable people
• Providing households with a list of reliable
contractors

10

The Strategy will be implemented over a period
of 5 years and recognises that private sector
renewal must be tackled in partnership with a
range of stakeholders and agencies, including
local landlords.
HOW WE ARE TACKLING EMPTY PROPERTIES?
Empty properties (properties left empty for more
than six months) can be detrimental to any local
neighbourhood, posing a health and safety issue
and providing an opportunity for anti social
behaviour. However at a time when demand for
housing is high, empty properties can be utilised
to provide a valuable source of housing supply.
Within Dartford, there are 740 known long term
empty residential dwellings, which are spread
throughout the borough and only 6 known
empty commercial units. In 2008/2009, we
brought 51 properties back into use against a
target of 12, and plan to bring 75 back into use
during 2009/2010. An improvement in numbers
has been mainly due to the employment of a
dedicated empty property officer.
In order to help bring empty properties back
into use in Dartford, the Council has developed
its second Empty Property Strategy. The
Strategy has the following aims:
• Reduce the number of long term empty
properties
• Increase the supply of rented accommodation
in the private sector
• Improve the local environment and contribute
to the regeneration of run down areas
• Raise awareness of empty properties locally
• Ensure landlords have access to advice and
information in order to prevent a property
becoming long term empty
The Strategy aims to complete these actions in
partnership with Housing Associations, Registered

Social Landlords and local agencies over five years.
HOW WE ARE TACKLING DOMESTIC ABUSE?
Underpinning Housing Services approach and
action towards abuse, is its Domestic Abuse
Housing Strategy. The three main priorities of
the Strategy are to:
• Increase awareness and challenge the
acceptability of domestic abuse
• Reduce homelessness as a result of domestic
abuse
• Encourage a multi-agency approach in order
to ensure an appropriate and speedy
response for each individual.
The Strategy was developed in 2008 and so far
has seen extremely positive results, mainly due
to good partnership working with other
organisations in the borough.
Some of the successes of the Strategy include:
• The launch of a Domestic Abuse One Stop
Shop which provides a weekly drop in centre
enabling victims to access advice and
information from a range of services e.g.
Solicitors, Women’s Aid and the Citizens
Advice Bureau
• Annual training sessions for council staff and
other organisations
• A Domestic Abuse Directory of Services,
which outlines all the services available to
help victims of abuse
Housing Services also attends a MARAC (Multi
Agency Risk Assessment Conference), the aim
of which is to enable agencies to come
together to share information and therefore
reduce harm to high risk victims of domestic
abuse and their children.

Page 22

Dartford Borough Council’s Private Sector
Renewal Strategy aims to address these and other
housing renewal issues in all types and tenures of
private housing in Dartford, from owner occupied
homes and caravans to privately rented flats and
Homes in Multiple Occupancy (HMOs).

• Taking enforcement action
• Effective regulation of caravan site licensing

Agenda Item 6

The survey found that poor housing conditions
within Dartford were generally associated with
households at social or economic disadvantage.
Elderly people comprised 36.6% of all
households living in non decent housing and
vulnerable people 38%.

5. Affordable housing and
balancing the housing market

The Council however, is committed to maximising
the provision of affordable housing and will look
at additional models of provision including
remodeling of existing provision and the release
of council-owned land where it is surplus to
requirements.

The Council is keen to provide opportunities for
those who wish to remain close to their existing
communities and create more economically
mixed neighbourhoods. One way the Council

Section 106 legal agreements with developers
and social housing providers are used to
achieve the provision of a range of affordable
housing with some smaller schemes being
100% affordable. The emerging Local
Development Framework will promote further
opportunities and robust policies, however
there is a risk that prevailing market conditions
will limit the number of affordable homes built
by private developers.
We accept that there is a distinction between
affordability and affordable housing. This
Strategy sets out in clear terms the types of
housing that are considered affordable. This is to
ensure that developer contributions are used to
provide genuinely affordable housing for
households in need over the long term. The
definition includes homes owned and managed
by private sector bodies and those provided
without government grant.
Affordable housing is one of the following types
of housing:
• Social rented housing

• Intermediate rented housing
• Shared ownership housing
• Discounted sale housing
In all cases, affordable housing should be
available at a cost low enough for people to
afford, determined with regard to local incomes
and local house prices.
We will develop a comprehensive affordability
model for housing that will set out precise
criteria for determining affordability in the area.
This will be based on up to date information
obtained from our recent strategic housing
market assessment and viability study and will
eventually develop into Supplementary
Planning Guidance for affordable housing as
part of the Local Development Framework.
Based on findings from the recent housing
needs survey we currently consider that shared
ownership housing should be provided at
between 25% and 50% shares in order for them
to be affordable to local people. In addition to
this, we have a demonstrable need for larger
family type accommodation, especially in the
social rented sector.
STRATEGIC HOUSING
MARKET ASSESSMENT (SHMA)
One of the documents which acts as a
fundamental evidence base to support the
Local Development Framework Core Strategy
Submission (see section on Local Development
Framework (LDF) for further details), is a
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).
A Housing Needs Survey and Market
Assessment was carried out in 2006 by
independent consultants DCA, which informed
the housing preferred policy approaches in
Dartford’s Core Strategy Preferred Options
(January 2008). However, revised government

Agenda Item 6

Our current planning policy for the urban area,
requires that 30% affordable housing be provided
on sites where 15 or more units are proposed or
where the site is over half a hectare in size. In rural
areas we require 50% affordable housing in areas
of two or more units. Our recent housing needs
survey suggests that between 50-80% of
affordable housing could be provided as
intermediate housing (shared ownership,
discounted rent or discounted sale).The current
policy is further endorsed by the findings of the
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (see below).

does this is by supporting the provision of
intermediate housing. Most intermediate
housing is in the form of shared ownership,
where the occupier purchases a share of the
property and pays rent on the remainder,
although there are a number of other products
available through the Government’s Homebuy
scheme. Intermediate renting allows low and
middle income households to rent specific new
build properties. In a housing market downturn,
with the associated difficulties in obtaining a
mortgage, intermediate rented homes may prove
to be more popular than shared ownership. Rent
to Homebuy models allow tenants to rent their
home for a specified period (up to three years)
and then purchase the property at the end of a
that period.The Council supports this model.

Page 23

AFFORDABLE HOUSING
The Council has a long tradition of working in
partnership with social housing providers to
provide affordable housing, however, many
private developers are finding it difficult to raise
funding for new schemes and many purchasers
are unable to secure mortgage finance. In the
short term these market conditions will reduce
the rate of house completions in Dartford in
common with the rest of Kent.This in turn may
affect the rate of affordable housing completions
to some degree. However, Dartford has done well
against the targets set in the Local Area
Agreement. For example 265 units (including
Moat Homebuy products) were completed in
2008/2009 against a target of 100 and we are on
track to meet the 2009/2010 target of 100 having
already completed 68 units.

11

•

•

guidance advises that planning authorities
should assess housing need and demand
through a SHMA.

The findings of the SHMA suggest that:
• Dartford has experienced household growth
which is expected to continue.
• The area has a younger population than the
South East and a higher proportion of
households with children, a lower proportion
of elderly households, and, one person
households have increased.
• Current housing stock is in good condition,
dominated by the owner-occupied tenure.
• Households are projected to increase in
number but reduce in size. However, this
average masks a projected increase in the
number of children coupled with the trend of
increasing wages in the area. This suggests
that there will be a demand for larger homes.
• Young people household need preferences
indicate that the current and planned

12

•

•

STRATEGIC HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY
ASSESSMENT (SHLAA)
A second fundamental part of the evidence
base underpinning the Core Strategy is a
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
(SHLAA), which has been recently carried out.
The SHLAA identifies potential development
sites in the borough and assesses their
suitability and potential to deliver housing
within the next 15 years in order to reach the
Regional Spatial Plan requirement of 17,340 net
additional dwellings from 2006 to 2026.
The main findings of the SHLAA include that:
• Sufficient sites have been identified as
deliverable and developable to address the
Regional Spatial Plan requirement for 2006 to
2026.

CHOICE BASED LETTINGS
In 2009 Dartford Borough Council became a
member of Kent Homechoice, the Kent-wide
choice based lettings scheme.
Kent Homechoice operates across each of the
12 districts in Kent and currently advertises
properties on a dedicated website. Website
based surveys are ongoing to measure
customer satisfaction with the CBL process
which have shown a very high rate of customer
satisfaction. Any customers who are not
satisfied with the service are contacted
personally to resolve any complaints they may
have. Each property is pictured alongside rent
and service charge information and a feedback
report is available to the public which shows the
results of the last bidding round. These features
have helped to maximise applicants’ choice to
make the whole process more transparent.
Kent Homechoice currently allows people to bid
for properties only within their local authority
area; however from early summer 2010 the
scheme will expand to allow people to bid for a
proportion of randomly selected properties
outside of their local authority area, giving
people even greater choice and flexibility.

Page 24

Essentially, the SHMA considers the recent
performance of the housing market in Dartford
and surrounding areas and addresses further
housing market drivers, including demographic
change and housing need and demand. The
2006 DCA study covered some but not all
aspects of the SHMA requirements. As a result, a
SHMA has recently been carried out to update
and build on the existing 2006 DCA study.

• 3,267 homes have been assessed to be
delivered from specific deliverable sites in
the next five years (2009 to 2014).
• Sufficient achievable, developable and
currently undevelopable sites have been
identified to provide flexibility to overcome
future housing delivery issues such as
unforeseen site constraints or slower than
forecast site delivery.

Agenda Item 6

•

provision of flatted development may suit
their requirements.
There is a need to encourage new forms of
housing provision for the elderly, incorporating
lifetime homes standards in new development
(see page 18).There is also a need for
supported homes and extra care homes.
There is a need to locate homes close to
community facilities, open space, and public
transport to address household need.
Affordability will continue to be an issue for
the future housing market area. The
suggested affordable housing target and
threshold from the DCA study should
continue to inform strategic policy making,
which should also take into account of the
Affordable Housing Viability Study findings.
There is a need for an improved housing
offer to match the increased quality of jobs
being created in Dartford, and in the long
term to support the transformation of the
economy.
Dartford is well placed to benefit on the
deliverability of homes once the economy
recovers.

6. Regeneration and partnerships
This section details how partner organisations
work across the county and locally to ensure
that the area benefits from regeneration and
improved prosperity. The chart below details
how these organisations come together.
ENSURING OUR COMMUNITIES
ARE SUSTAINABLE
The Council has a joint Sustainable Community
Strategy (SCS) (2008-2011) with Gravesham
Borough Council, both boroughs being at the
heart of the Thames Gateway regeneration area.
Up to 2026, it is proposed that 30,000 new
homes will be built and 50,000 jobs will be
created in the area. There are a number of key
drivers underpinning the regeneration agenda,

such as the development of Ebbsfleet Valley as
one of the primary business locations in the
Gateway, the rejuvenation of Dartford and
Gravesham Town Centres and ensuring that
there is adequate transport to meet the needs
of new developments and the integration of
new and existing communities.
Although good progress was made on the last
SCS, including the opening of Ebbsfleet
International Rail Station, the implementation of
Fastrack and plans being brought forward for the
town centre, challenges still remain.The current
downturn in the economy will affect the progress
of large scale developments and overall housing
targets may be lower than anticipated.

Kent District Councils

Kent County Council

Transport sub-group

SEEDA

Environment sub-group
Employment and Skills Board
Innovation and
Enterprise Group

Homes and Communities
Agency

Thames Gateway Kent
Partnership
(Dartford, Gravesham,
Medway, Swale)

Local Regeneration
Partnerships:
KTDB (Dartford and
Gravesham)
Swale Forward
Ashford’s Future
Dover Pride
Margate Renewal Partnership

The themes link into the Vision for Kent, Kent
Agreement 2, the South East Regional Economic
Strategy, the Thames Gateway Delivery Plan and
the South East Plan. One of the main targets in
the SCS is the development of a Core Strategy
as part of the Local Development Framework
which will set out an agreed approach to the
creation of sustainable communities with
housing relevant to local needs and the
provision of a comprehensive range of local
community services.
INVESTMENT IN DARTFORD
Thames Gateway key sites
The Council, along with Medway, Swale and
Gravesham Borough Councils, is participating in
a pilot scheme in partnership with the Homes
and Communities Agency (HCA) to progress
what is termed ‘A Single Conversation’ (SC). In
essence this describes engagement between
the HCA and, primarily, local authorities within a
designated area, to develop a local investment
programme (LIP) and determine where HCA and

Agenda Item 6

Kent Economic Board

Local Strategic
Partnerships:
Kent Thameside
Swale
East Kent
Ashford
West Kent

Page 25

Kent Partnership

The SCS sets out how the Local Strategic
Partnership will tackle the issues the area faces
up to 2011 and is set under five themes:
• Economic Development
• Health and Well being
• Safer Communities
• Environment and Transport
• Housing and Stronger Communities

13

Agenda Item 6

behalf of local partners, though it is envisaged
that a range of partners will be engaged in the
processes and these will vary across different
sub-regions.
It is expected that the programme will be
completed by March 2010.

The ‘single’ nature of the conversation is designed
to offer local authorities a single, coordinated
process, brokered and managed by the HCA,
through which they can communicate with all
relevant agencies at a local, sub-regional, regional
and national level.The process will aim to ensure
that all the partners are joined up and working to
the same objectives, and that these reflect the
HCA’s objectives.The process needs to be both
spatial (i.e. neighbouring authorities need to join
up where there is evidence that they should) and
thematic (i.e. different organisations within the
same authority e.g. housing and planning and
also outside the authority e.g. education, health
and transport) need to work to the same agenda.
In unitary authorities, of course, education and
transport are already part of the same
organisation, but the Single Conversation will
nonetheless still bring Health, Highways Agency
and rail authorities, etc into the discussion.
Local authorities have the democratic mandate
to lead planning and investment in their areas.
The aim of the Single Conversation and
development of the LIP is that local authorities
put forward shared ambitions and objectives on

14

Dartford’s LDF will contain development and
land-use policies that will fulfill the Council’s
community, economic, environmental and social
aims for the Borough in the future.
Part of the LDF, the Core Strategy, is a planning
document containing a spatial vision and
objectives for Dartford to 2026 and a strategy
for how this will be achieved.
The Council is currently reviewing the Core
Strategy timetable so as to allow consideration
of future planning for the Glaxo Smith Kline site
in Dartford, which has unexpectedly been
released for development. It is also carrying out
additional assessment and modelling of

housing, transport and employment, taking into
account the revised housing figures for Dartford
in the published South East Plan. A final
timetable is not yet agreed but it is anticipated
that the Pre-Submission document will be
published at the beginning of 2010.
Dartford has been identified as part of the
Government’s Thames Gateway growth area
and is expected to achieve strategic growth
targets. The published South East Plan suggests
scope for 17,300 homes in Dartford during the
period 2006-2026. The scale and complexity of
sites means that the relationship with
infrastructure requirements, phasing and
deliverability is critical.
Many of the sites required to meet the housing
target have already been identified and 70% of
the proposed housing supply to 2026 has
planning permission. The Council broadly
endorses the approach set out in Planning
Policy Supplement 3 to create mixed and
sustainable communities in locations which
offer a range of facilities, with good access to
jobs, key services and infrastructure. It accords
with the regeneration priorities for Dartford
which foresee a vibrant town centre, a
rejuvenated and active waterfront bringing life
to the whole area, and new high quality living
and working communities in the Ebbsfleet
Valley and other large sites.

Page 26

local authority investments and interventions
will be made, formalised within a Local
Investment Agreement (LIA). The SC is the
process by which the LIP and the LIA will
ultimately be agreed.

Planning for development in Dartford
All local councils are required to set out a local
framework for development. This comes in the
form of a series of documents, which when
adopted, will replace the adopted Local Plan.
This is known as a Local Development
Framework (LDF).

7. Improving homes, services and neighbourhoods
UPVC front and back doors, thermal comfort
measures such as cavity wall and loft insulation,
installing new boilers and completing the final
properties which required double glazing.

The Council and the housing associations
operating in Dartford are progressing well in
bringing homes up to a decent standard and it
is expected that the standard will be met by
2010/2011.

At the end of the financial year 2008/2009 only
11% of our housing stock did not meet the
Decent Homes Standard. We have started a new
programme to target the 11% and improve the
condition of our stock and this continuing focus
and investment will ensure that the Decent
Homes Standard is met by the government
deadline.

Work is now underway to re-inspect 10% of our
properties annually to ensure that the data we
have is correct and up to date. Our stock data
has been independently audited and been
passed as fit for purpose.
In April 2008 we implemented our annual works
programme to improve our housing stock and
to continue to bring our properties up to the
Decent Homes Standard. The works programme
included the modernisation of kitchens and
bathrooms, electrical upgrades, fitting new

COMMUNITY SAFETY
The Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety
Plan (CSP) for 2008-2011 highlights the need to
work in partnership to tackle crime and reduce
anti social behaviour and to ensure that people’s
perceptions and fear of crime are not
exaggerated and out of proportion to the reality.
The Dartford and Gravesham Crime and
Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) was set
up to tackle anti social behaviour, crime and the
fear of crime and the CSP sets the focus and
direction for the CDRP up to 2011.
The priorities within the Plan incorporate the
aims of the Kent Agreement 2 as well as the
Public Service Agreements set out by the
Government’s National Community Safety Plan.

We have an on-site Community Safety Unit
(CSU) which is made up of the Council’s
community safety, enforcement and licensing
teams and Dartford’s neighbourhood policing
management team, including one inspector and
two sergeants. Local beat officers and Police
Community Support Officers report directly to
the police presence within the CSU, providing a
joined up approach to tackling crime and anti
social behaviour.
Overall there has been a steady reduction in
crime in Dartford with a 16.9% decrease overall.
The housing department works closely with the
CSU in tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
on estates. Housing Officers attend daily
meetings with the unit and sub groups have
been established that consider cases where a
joined up approach is deemed necessary.
Housing officers also attend ‘Partners and
Communities Together’ (PACT) meetings, led by
the Police, where members of the community
are encouraged to identify key issues. The
Council continues to support mediation services
where appropriate, and works in partnership
with Mediation in North Kent.
The following table shows the number of orders
obtained from 2006-2009

Agenda Item 6

2008 saw completion of our public sector stock
condition survey. All elements within a property
e.g. the roof, kitchen, bathroom, etc were given a
remaining life. This data is then entered into our
Asset Management database and reports are
run to show in which year the elements require
replacement. The database also allows us to run
a business plan for up to 30 future years. The
plan allocates costs for the works required in
each particular year. This allows us to budget
accordingly to ensure that homes are
maintained at the Decent Homes standard.

As a result of this programme by March 2009 we
completed:
• 524 boiler replacements
• 543 kitchen replacements
• 1034 door replacements (front and back)
• 6 bathroom replacements
• 1208 cavity wall and loft insulation upgrades
• 400 electrical upgrades

issues including vehicle nuisance, litter, noise
and environmental crime such as fly tipping and
abandoned vehicles. The CDRP is made up of a
partnership of key agencies including:
• Dartford and Gravesham Borough Councils
• Kent Police
• Kent County Council
• West Kent NHS
• Kent Police Authority
• Kent Fire and Rescue Service

Page 27

DECENT HOMES
The Government’s Decent Homes Standard sets
out the criteria that council homes need to
meet in order to be classified as decent:
• A property must be fit in accordance with the
statutory fitness standards (HHSRS) (see page
24)
• The key components and non-key
components need to be in a reasonable state
of repair
• The property must have reasonably modern
facilities and a reasonable degree of thermal
comfort

One of the key aims relating to anti social
behaviour is to reduce street nuisance and
criminal damage and to tackle community

15

Year

Anti-Social
Behaviour
Injunction
Order

Possession
Order

Eviction
Order

Demotion
Order

2008/9

0

7

1

1

0

2007/8

0

5

0

0

0

2006/7

0

1

0

0

0

The overall goal of the TSA is to work with
landlords and tenants to improve services for
existing and prospective tenants. Central to
achieving this aim are the TSA’s standards which
reflect the priorities of tenants, prospective
tenants and housing professionals and will be
used to measure housing providers’ performance.
If a housing provider fails to meet its standards or
if misconduct is reported to the TSA, then the TSA
will take action to resolve the problem.

THE ROLE OF THE NEW TENANT
SERVICES AUTHORITY
The Tenant Services Authority (TSA) was
established under the 2008 Housing and
Regeneration Act as the national regulator for
landlord services. From April 2010 the TSA will
regulate Local Authorities and Registered Social
Landlords (RSLs).

16

The Council will also be required to produce an
annual report informing its tenants and the TSA
of its performance and enabling tenants to
compare the Council’s performance with other
housing providers.

The Council’s housing service will be required to
meet the national standards set by the TSA in five
main areas (see table below) and to consult with
its tenants to develop a ‘local offer’ in each of
Standard – area:

What the standard will cover:

Tenant involvement and empowerment

•
•
•
•
•

Home

• Repairs and maintenance
• Quality of accommodation

Tenancy

• Allocations
• Rent
• Tenure

Neighbourhood and community

• Neighbourhood management
• Local area co-operation
• Anti-social behaviour

Value for money

• Value for money

Specifically, the Agreement sets out standards
of service that residents can expect in respect of
reporting of anti social behaviour.
We will work to develop more of these Estate
Agreements.

these areas before 1 April 2011.

Tenant involvement and empowerment
Customer service and choice
Equalities and diversity
Complaints
Tenants with additional support needs

Page 28

The Council works closely with residents and
partners to make improvements in an area. For
example, an Estate Agreement has been
developed between residents at Gunn Road and
the Council. It sets out the level of service the
Council will provide for the estate and the
commitment of residents to building up a good
working relationship with the Council and to
improve the quality of life for everyone living
and working in the area. Residents have
identified their partners as:
• Dartford Borough Council Housing Service
• Dartford Borough Council Waste and
Recycling
• Kent Police
• Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council
• Pinnacle PSG cleaners
• Dartford Borough Council Environmental Health

Agenda Item 6

Anti-Social
Behaviour
Order

8. Supporting our community
This section of the Strategy is about how the
Council will support residents who require help
to access good quality housing, and access
support to maintain their housing.
VULNERABLE PEOPLE
A major contributor towards the role of supporting
vulnerable people in Kent is the Supporting People
programme. Launched in 2003, this is a
government funded programme for the planning
and provision of housing related support for
vulnerable people to live more independently and
maintain their accommodation.The programme
enables the provision of accommodation based
services and floating support.

The Council is keen to run a fully inclusive service
that is equitable and takes into account the needs
of its vulnerable customers. A Vulnerable Persons’
policy will be developed which will outline how
the Council will assist vulnerable customers to
access services and maintain their tenancy.This
will include setting out how to better identify
vulnerable customers through customer profiling
techniques; ensuring staff are trained to identify
vulnerability; and, how vulnerable customers will
be supported and referred or advised about
specialist support services.

The Council has an obligation to undertake such
reviews to fulfil the requirements of antidiscrimination and equalities legislation and, as
recommended by the Audit Commission’s
Strategic Housing Inspection of 2008, the Council
has improved its approach to Customer Access
Reviews to ensure better outcomes in housing
related services.The Corporate Group for
Customer Service Excellence will oversee the
timetable of Customer Access Reviews.The
outcome of this will be to ensure that any barriers
to accessing services, in particular to this Strategy,
with regards to housing are addressed.
Furthermore, the Council will be responding to
the provisions of the Equality Bill, which is
expected to receive Royal Assent in spring 2010

RESPONDING TO THE DIVERSE
HOUSING NEEDS OF THE COMMUNITY
The strategic Housing Inspection also
recommended the Council ‘develops a strategic
approach to address the housing needs of older
and young persons, disabled people, members
of BME groups (including migrants) and Gypsies
and Travellers’.

Agenda Item 6

• People with multiple/complex needs
(including single people who are
homeless/at risk of homelessness with
mental health, alcohol and drugs needs, a
history of offending)
• Young people at risk (including homeless
16/17 year olds)
• People who misuse alcohol and drugs
• Frail elderly people

The Council also commits to undertaking
Customer Access Reviews, which examine how
existing or new services or policies affect groups
of people covered by equalities legislation in
relation to race, disability, sexual orientation,
religion/belief and gender. The Customer Access
Reviews will help the Council to ensure that it is
serving the needs of everyone in the Borough by
ensuring that all services are accessible to all and
will help employees provide and deliver
excellent services.

by implementing a Single Equalities Scheme.
This piece of legislation aims to fight
discrimination and bring together all of the
discrimination laws together into one place.
When enacted it will, amongst others priorities,
provide specific duties on local government to:
• Consider reducing socio-economic equalities
– this means that local authorities will have a
duty to give due regard to the desirability of
tackling socio-economic inequalities, when
making strategic decisions about how to
exercise their functions (for example, in their
housing allocation schemes).
• Implement an Equality Duty – this means
considering the needs of diverse groups in
the community when designing and
delivering public services so that people can
get fairer opportunities and better public
services. This will cover race, gender,
disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or
belief, pregnancy and maternity explicitly,
and gender-reassignment in full.
• Improve protection from disability
discrimination – this means making it easier for
disabled people who live in homes with
common areas, like hallways and stairs, to be
able to use these areas.The Equality Bill will
place a new duty on landlords and managers
of residential properties to make alterations for
disabled people where it is reasonable to do so.

Page 29

The Kent Supporting People Strategy 2005 – 2010
sets out a programme to review current provision
and ensure that resources are targeted and used
effectively.This has identified that the clients with
the highest priority for developing new housing
related support services are:

THE EQUALITY AGENDA
The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Policy sets
out the Council’s commitment to ensuring that
everyone in Dartford can take full part in the
social, cultural and economic wealth of the
Borough.This applies to equality practice
regarding age, disability, gender, race, religion or
belief, sexual orientation and status.The main aim
is to ensure that this Policy links directly to all
Council strategies and plans.The Council has
adopted the Customer Service Excellence tool as
a method for driving customer focused service
delivery which will include targets relating to the
Council’s progression through the national Local
Government Equality Framework.

The needs of older and young people have
already been considered in the recently
developed Older Persons Housing and Young
Persons Housing Strategies. The rest of this
section will therefore focus on the remaining

17

groups, taking into account consultation that
has been carried out with key stakeholders.

Chart 4: Breakdown of housing register
applicants with support needs

DISABLED ADAPTATIONS
The Council provides an adaptations service for
people with disabilities.The assistance is provided
through the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
operated by the Council for people in private
sector accommodation and homeowners.The
Council also funds disabled adaptations for its
own tenants.

There are a number of mechanisms already in
place to support people with disabilities and
mental health problems to access good quality
housing, have choices about where they live,
and maximise their independence. Further
service planning is also ongoing.
HOUSING REGISTER APPLICANTS
There are currently 38 applications on the
Council’s housing register where the applicant
or applicant’s family members have a disability
or mental health problem. Overall 56 individuals
within the 38 applications are affected as
follows:

18

The Council maintains a register of adapted
properties within its own stock and there are
currently 1,361 properties with some form of
adaptation from minor works such as grab rails,
to major works such as flush floor showers (see
graph opposite).
Chart 5: Number of applicants on housing
register with support needs by band

The Private Sector Stock Condition Survey 2008
found that there are around 3,447 households
in Dartford that require disabled adaptations to
their homes. Of this, approximately 85% are
owner-occupiers and largely elderly, with 39%
classed as economically vulnerable who may be
eligible for DFG assistance. This indicates there
is a target market for support in the future.
The Audit Commission’s Strategic Housing
Inspection 2008 identified that disabled people
have to wait too long for help to adapt their
homes, which was attributed to a shortage of
Occupational Therapists to carry out the
assessments necessary to secure the grants. A
review has since been carried out to address
these delays, and targets for improving the
grant process have been included in the
Council’s recently developed Private Sector
Renewal Strategy 2009-2014.

Page 30

On a Kent-wide level, mental health problems
account for a large proportion of people
claiming Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
(18.1%). The one single condition that accounts
for the majority of residents claiming DLA in
Kent is arthritis (14.0%) followed by people
claiming because they have a learning difficulty
(12.6%). In Dartford alone, there were 3,540
people claiming DLA in February 2009, which is
3.8% of the borough’s population.

Agenda Item 6

PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES AND
MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES
It is very difficult to estimate the total number of
people with physical and sensory disabilities, as
there is no statutory requirement for a person to
register as disabled. However, disability related
benefits do provide some indication of the
number of people with disabilities, including
those with mental health problems.

Just under two thirds of these applicants are in
band C with a low level of housing need (23
cases). However, nearly one sixth of the
applicants are from band A2 with a high
housing need (6 cases). The Council operates an
internal system which identifies vulnerable
applicants and has contacted all applicants who
may need assistance with the bidding process.

Chart 6: Number of Council properties by adaptation

(including a service user), learning disability
housing providers, and Supporting People.
The first task being addressed by the Group is to
carry out housing needs survey with every
known person with a learning disability in the
borough so that the outcome of this can feed
into future plans for housing provision and
inform a Kent-wide picture of need. It is
expected that the housing needs survey will be
completed by early 2010.

LIFETIME HOMES
Building homes that meet the Lifetime Homes
Standard reduces the need for people who
have, or develop disabilities, to move out and
have adaptation works. The Lifetime Homes
Standard contains 16 design requirements that
focus on accessibility and design features that
make the home suitable for people at all stages
of their lives.
The Council is currently reviewing its target for

Lifetime Homes as part of the Local
Development Framework, especially those with
wheelchair access.
KENT LEARNING DISABILITY
HOUSING ACTION PLAN
A Kent-wide Action Plan has been developed in
response to the Government’s ‘Valuing People
Now’ Strategy which aims to help people with
learning disabilities have more choice about
where they live and whom they live with. The
Action Plan was formally adopted in 2009 at the
Kent Joint Policy and Planning Board (JPPB) and
the Kent Partnership Board.
The Council is currently in the process of
making the Action Plan a reality and has set up
a quarterly meeting of the Dartford and
Gravesham Learning Disability Housing Group.
The meeting invites representatives from each
local authority, Kent County Council Adult Social
Services, the District Partnership Group

The Council recognises that the approach to
monitoring the needs of its diverse residents,
including those from the BME community,
requires improvement in order to address any
gaps in strategic development and to drive the
diversity agenda forward.The Council has recently
started to develop a comprehensive customer
profiling technique which enables profiling of
residents and applicants down to ward area.This
information will enable the Council to track
population growth and help target information or
resources where needed. It also helps to ensure
that Dartford’s BME population are treated fairly
and equally with regards access to housing.This
will be further developed over the coming year.

Agenda Item 6

Independent stakeholder consultation carried
out to inform this Housing Strategy has
evidenced that there is a good understanding
of how the service works, good inter-agency
relations in place between the Council and its
partners in this area and generally good quality
outcomes being achieved. However, there was a
suggestion that the Council should consider
revising the grant application form so that it is
easier to complete.

Page 31

BME COMMUNITY
The black and minority ethnic (BME) population
is estimated to be 9.6% of the total Dartford
population, the second largest proportion of all
Kent districts following Gravesham (12.9%), but
lower than the South East Region (11.8%). The
largest BME group in Dartford is Asian or Asian
British (3.8%) followed by Black or Black British
(2.7%). The total White population accounts for
90.4% (ONS 2008).

19

Ethnic group

Numbers on
waiting list
2008/09

Ethnic group
population
estimate 2007

88.45%

90.4%

Black or Black British: African
Black or Black British: Caribbean
Black or Black British: Any other Black Background

3.22%

3.73%

2.7%

Asian or Asian British: Indian
Asian or Asian British: Pakistani
Asian or Asian British: Bangladeshi
Asian or Asian British: Any other Asian Background

1.29%

2.51%

3.8%

Mixed: White and Black African
Mixed: White and Black Caribbean
Mixed: White and Asian
Mixed: Any other Mixed Background

3.43%

1.47%

2%

Other Ethnic Origin: Chinese
Other Ethnic Origin: Other groups

0.43%

0.69%

1.4%

Ethnicity Not Stated

2.79%

3.15%

2%

Proportion of social housing lets made to all ethnic groups 2008/09

20

The Council also monitors the proportion of social
housing allocation lets to BME households. It was
found that the proportion of lets in 2008/09 in the
White ethnic group is 1.56% lower than the 2007
population estimate. Lets to Mixed ethnic group
applicants is 1.43% higher than the population
estimate and lets to Black or Black British ethnic
group applicants is 0.52% higher. (2.7% of
applicants did not state their ethnicity and so this
proportion of lets is unknown).

compared to the population estimate of 2.7%
(see chart above right).

In terms of decisions made regarding
homelessness, the breakdown of homeless
applicants in Dartford found to be eligible,
unintentionally homeless and in priority need in
2008/09 is also monitored. The most significant
finding was that a proportionally higher
number of people (10%) from the Black or Black
British ethnic group were accepted as homeless

MIGRANT WORKERS
The European Union (EU) was enlarged on 1 May
2004. From this date, people from the Accession
countries of Poland, Czech Republic, Slovakia,
Hungary, Slovenia, Latvia, Lithuania, Estonia, Malta
and (Greek) Cyprus were free to enter the UK to
visit and look for work, without the need for visas
or work permits.The EU was further enlarged in 1

Consultation with representative organisations
from our BME communities has found that
better links to this section of the community
could be developed. Understanding the needs
and aspirations of these communities would
help the Council to respond accordingly and
ensure that any barriers to access are prevented.

Page 32

88.84%

Chart 7: Percentage of priority need
applicants by ethnicity

Agenda Item 6

White British
White Irish
White – Any other White Background

All lettings
2008/09

January 2007 to include free movement of people
from Bulgaria and Romania.
Due to this, there has been a marked growth in
the number of migrant workers entering Kent and
Medway with over two-and-a-half times the
numbers in 2007/08 than in 2002/03. A total of
13,520 migrant workers were recorded in 2007/08
of which 7,840 were from EU Accession countries.
Most of the EU migrant workers have been
Polish, with 3,240 coming into Kent in 2007/08
followed by migrant workers from Slovak
Republic (940) and migrant workers from
Bulgaria (800).
In 2007/08, Dartford had the third lowest
number of migrant workers as a percentage of
the working age population in Kent at 1.0%
(300 out of 59,400). This follows Sevenoaks at
0.8% and Tonbridge and Malling at 0.7%.

There is no evidence to suggest that migrant
workers are placing pressure on social housing
in the district, as very few applications and
subsequent lettings are made to this group. In
terms of homelessness assistance, of the 153
applicants found to be eligible, homeless and in
priority need in 2008/09, none were known to
be from Accession countries.
It is instead more likely that migrant workers
find accommodation in the private rented
sector, with clear linkages towards the least
costly form of Houses in Multiple
Accommodation (HMO).

GYPSIES AND TRAVELLERS
Gypsies and Travellers are a long established
ethnic group in Britain whose histories and
traditions stretch back many hundreds of years.
They comprise of many groups, each with their
own lifestyle, culture and traditions.
There are many definitions for Gypsies however,
for the purposes of this Strategy, the Housing
Act 2004 defines Gypsies and Travellers as:

In Dartford, there are a total of 17 privately
authorised Gypsy and Traveller sites with 48
pitches as at January 2009. Dartford Borough
Council also owns and manages one local
authority site, which currently accommodates
12 pitches.
Pitch provision
Just like the settled population, Gypsies and
Travellers have different needs regarding where
and how they live. The assessment of Gypsy and
Traveller accommodation needs is a statutory
requirement under Section 225 of the Housing
Act 2004; the results of the assessment feeds
into the Council’s Local Development
Framework, which provides a spatial strategy for
future development. The assessment also
informs the South East Plan, which is the broad
spatial planning strategy for how the region
should look in 15-20 years, which includes a
requirement to identify the number of Gypsy
and Traveller pitches needed.

The Council has agreed to an interim action
plan to progress the identification and delivery
of additional authorised pitches. This involves
considering options including providing new
pitches on existing sites, so allowing for the
expanding need of occupiers. The suitability
criteria for selection of additional pitches are
being progressed through the Council’s Core
Strategy, which outlines the spatial vision for
future development within Dartford together
with a strategy for achieving that vision.
Rights and responsibilities of residents at
Claywood Lane caravan site
Section 318 of the Housing and Regeneration
Act 2008 will amend the definition of a
protected site in the Mobile Homes Act 1983 to
remove the exclusion for local authority Gypsy
and Traveller sites. This means that residents of
the Council’s site at Claywood Lane will have the
same rights and responsibilities as residents
living in similar accommodation, such as private
Gypsy and Traveller sites and park homes. When
Section 318 is brought into force by order, the
Council will undertake a review of the licence it
uses and change this to an agreement to
include the implied terms specified by the Act.

Agenda Item 6

The Council will continue to monitor the flow of
migrant workers into the area through its
customer profiling system.

The total Gypsy and Traveller population in Kent
has been estimated at approximately 9,600 out of
an overall population in Kent of 1.6 million.The
majority of the Gypsy and Traveller population in
the county comprises of English Romany Gypsies
and some Irish Travellers of which around 70% are
estimated to live in settled housing or on sites,
and the rest are nomadic .

the South East Plan, the preferred requirements
for Gypsy and Traveller pitch provision from 2006
to 2016 in Dartford is an additional 22 pitches
with four Travelling Showpeople pitches.

Page 33

The Council currently runs a mandatory
licensing scheme, which applies to HMO
properties with three storeys, or more and five
individuals or more. The aim of this scheme is to
increase the quality of HMO accommodation in
terms of both physical conditions and
management standards. The Council is currently
in the process of preparing a submission to the
Department for Communities and Local
Government (CLG) to provide an additional
licensing scheme for HMO properties that fall
outside of the mandatory licensing scheme. It is
felt that extending this mandatory scheme will
enable protection to tenants living in smaller
HMOs where there are still potential hazards.

‘persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their
race or origin, including such persons who on
grounds only of their own or their family’s or
dependent’s educational or health needs or old
age have ceased to travel temporarily or
permanently, and all other persons with a cultural
tradition of nomadism and/or caravan dwelling’.

A joint assessment of need was carried out in
2006 with other North Kent authorities, including
Gravesham, Medway and Swale. A Travelling
Showpeople study was also later carried out. After
regional consultation as part of a partial review of

21

9. Monitoring our Strategy
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The Council would like to thank all the
organisations who participated in the
consultation events or in the development of
this Strategy.

DISCLAIMER
All information was correct at the time the
Strategy was developed, however the recent
change in government means that some parts
of the Strategy may be out of date. The Strategy
will be reviewed in the next year, taking account
of any new legislation or guidance.

Agenda Item 6

The Strategy will be monitored through an
implementation group, to be developed as part
of the action planning. It will consist of relevant
internal/external partners or those relevant to
the delivery of the action plan. It is expected
that the group will meet three times a year to
drive forward the key priorities and actions and
to look at the strategic priorities for the
development of the next strategy in 2012.

Page 34

22

Appendix 1: Our strategic objectives
OUR OVERALL STRATEGIC
HOUSING OBJECTIVES
• Increase the supply of affordable homes
across the borough
• Prevent homelessness
• Improve homes, services and
neighbourhoods
• Improve housing conditions in the private
sector and reduce the number of empty homes
• Ensure that all residents have fair and equal
access to housing

OUR OBJECTIVES FOR IMPROVING HOUSING
CONDITIONS IN THE PRIVATE SECTOR
• To decrease the number of vulnerable
people living in non decent homes
• To decrease the numbers of households who
are in fuel poverty and improve the overall
energy efficiency of the private sector stock
in Dartford
• To ensure that residents live in safe and
healthy homes
• Reduce the number of long term empty
properties
• Increase the supply of rented accommodation
in the private sector
• Improve the local environment and contribute
to the regeneration of run down areas
• Raise awareness of empty properties locally
• Ensure landlords have access to advice and
information in order to prevent a property
becoming long term empty

Agenda Item 6

OUR HOMELESSNESS OBJECTIVES
• To prevent homelessness, wherever possible,
through maximising the provision of advice
and support to those at risk of homelessness
• To provide a range of accommodation for
homeless households and maximise the
supply of affordable housing for all households
• To ensure there is sufficient and appropriate
support to meet the needs of various client
groups
• To improve access to health and social care
for homeless people
• To improve housing information and advice
• To prevent homelessness and repeat
homelessness
• To improve access to suitable
accommodation

OUR OBJECTIVES FOR MEETING OLDER
PERSONS’ HOUSING NEEDS
• Undertake an assessment of the current
supported housing stock
• Look at the possibility of changing the use of
some of the schemes
• Review the current allocation policy for
supported housing
• Improve levels of energy efficiency
• Look for ways to improve quality of private
sector accommodation for older owners
• Monitor development of retirement villages
• Provide good quality housing that people
want to live in

OUR OBJECTIVES FOR TACKLING DOMESTIC
ABUSE HOUSING ISSUES
• Increase awareness and challenge the
acceptability of domestic abuse
• Reduce homelessness as a result of domestic
abuse
• Encourage a multi-agency approach in order
to ensure an appropriate and speedy
response for each individual.

Page 35

OUR CORPORATE OBJECTIVES
• To meet the housing needs of the Borough
• To promote self reliant communities
• Increase the percentage of both the private
rented and public housing stock reaching the
Decent Homes Standard
• Deliver high quality services, offering value
for money and demonstrating customer
satisfaction and a culture of continuous
improvement.
• Inform and consult residents and
stakeholders about council services.

OUR OBJECTIVES FOR MEETING YOUNG
PERSONS’ HOUSING NEEDS
• To improve housing information and advice
• To prevent homelessness and repeat
homelessness
• To improve access to suitable accommodation

23

Appendix 2: Your questions answered

WHAT IS THE HOUSING HEALTH AND
SAFETY RATING SYSTEM (HHSRS)?
This was established by the Government as a
risk assessment procedure. It assesses hazards,
such as excess heat, mould, fire and noise and
their potential outcomes, these two factors are
combined to give a score in relation to each
hazard.
• Category 1 –hazards C, B, A which score
between 1000 points to over 5000
• Category 2 – hazards D to J which score
between 1 to 999
A Category 1 hazard is considered a statutory
failure and local authorities have various powers
to take appropriate action against the hazard.
Similar powers do exist for category 2 hazards,
but these are to be taken at the discretion of
the local authority.
HOW DO WE DEFINE AFFORDABLE HOUSING?
Social rented housing
Social rented housing is primarily housing
where guideline target rents are determined
through the national rent regime. Social rented

24

Intermediate rented housing
Intermediate rented homes are provided at rent
levels above those of social rent but below
market rent levels.
Shared equity housing
Shared equity housing is where more than one
party has an interest in the value of the home,
typically a registered social landlord and the
purchaser. Shared ownership is a form of shared
equity under which the purchaser buys an initial
share in a home from a housing provider, who
retains the remainder and may charge a rent.
The purchaser may buy additional shares (staircasing), and this payment should be recycled for
more affordable housing. In most cases, a
purchaser may buy the final share (stair-case
out) and own the whole home.
Discounted sale housing
Discount sale homes have a simple discount for
the purchaser on its market price, so the
purchaser buys the whole home at a reduced
rate.
WHAT IS A LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT?
The Kent Local Area Agreement 2 (KA2) brings
together the partner organisations in the
county with the aim of increasing
independence and raising personal fulfilment
for the people of Kent. The partners include:
• Kent County Council
• 12 district councils, including Dartford
• East Kent and Coastal and West Kent Primary
Care Trusts
• Kent Police
• Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Service
• Kent Probation Service
The KA2 document sets out the vision for the
County for the next three years, against eight
key themes:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Economic success
Learning for everyone
Improved health, care and well-being
Environmental excellence
Stronger and safer communities
Enjoying life
Keeping Kent moving
High quality homes

KA2 highlights 35 key national indicators which
will aid the monitoring of progress against the
agreement. All partners in the county have
signed up to the delivery of KA2 in its entirety
and therefore work together to deliver these
key actions. The final KA2 document was
submitted to central Government for ministerial
approval and this was received from Hazel
Blears in July 2008.
The monitoring of progress against the KA2 is
managed by the Kent Partnership, with input
from all partners and is undertaken on a regular
basis.
The KA2 contains key targets for the delivery of
affordable housing. In 2008/2009 Kent exceeded
their affordable housing completions target and
completed in excess of 1600 units against a
target of 1356. The target for 2009/2010 is 1503
units.
WHAT IS A MULTI AREA AGREEMENT?
Multi Area Agreements (MAAs) bring together
local public and private sector partners to
coordinate action across a wide range of policy
interventions. They cover the economic
footprint of an area and are an important
mechanism for driving growth and mitigating
economic conditions.
City regions and areas like North Kent are the
engine for economic growth, but there are
barriers that stand in the way: transport that
does not join things up the way it should, a lack
of high-quality housing and low levels of skills.

Page 36

A decent home is one that satisfies the
following criteria:
• It meets the current statutory minimum
standard for housing (does not reach
Category 1 of The Housing Health and Safety
Rating System (HHSRS)
• It is in a reasonable state of repair
• It has reasonably modern facilities and
services

housing is normally only available to people
though Kent Homechoice.

Agenda Item 6

WHAT IS THE DECENT HOMES STANDARD?
This standard was set by the Government in
order to raise standards by 2010 in social
housing and was extended to measure the
condition of private sector housing for
vulnerable households including the elderly,
those suffering from a life long disability and
families with children.

As labour, housing and supply markets do not
respect local authority boundaries it is vital that
local authorities work together to address
challenges in these and other areas.
In a signed public agreement with Government,
groups of councils covering a functional
economic area, working together with local
agencies pledged to boost economic growth
and tackle deprivation and financial inequalities,
in return for action by Government to devolve
more and reduce barriers to delivering better
outcomes. Actions so far have included more
flexible resources on housing, integrated and
flexible employment and skills investment and a
refocusing of national targets to increase
support to businesses.

The signatories to the MAA consist of the five
local authorities with responsibilities in North
Kent (Kent County Council, Medway, Dartford,
Gravesham, and Swale), Central Government,
SEEDA, the Homes and Communities Agency, the
Learning and Skills Council, and Job Centre Plus.
It is intended that a further version of the MAA
will be developed for agreement by July 2010.
There are four main themes contained in the
MAA:

HOW DO WE MAINTAIN A PARTNERSHIP
APPROACH TOWARDS PEOPLE WITH
DISABILITIES AND MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES?
The Council is involved with various partnerships
that focus on the needs of people with disabilities
or mental health issues, as follows:
• Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Mental
Health and Housing Forum
This group provides an opportunity for
housing support providers to share
information, identify good models of
practice, identify needs or gaps in service
provision and develop opportunities to
address these in the area of mental health. A
representative from the Housing Policy and
Development Team of the Council attends
this group and uses it as a pathway for
consultation on policy and strategy
development.
• Joint Stock Agreement
This is a partnership involving Dartford,
Community Mental Health Team, KCC Adult
Services and Children and Families Service
and Catch 22 (formerly Kent Community
Housing Trust) to provide fast track housing
for up to twenty applicants per year. This
enables applicants to access housing with

• Disability Equality Reference Group
This is a joint Dartford and Gravesham group
set up through the Local Strategic
Partnership that has assisted both councils in
developing their corporate disability equality
schemes and action plans.
The group comprises of stakeholders who
provide a broad range of support, advice and
services to the disabled community.
Whilst the Housing Services department of
the Council has not made use of this group
for consultative purposes before, the
independent stakeholder consultation
carried out to inform the Housing Strategy
has identified that this would be a useful
platform to establish links with in the future,
for example, through the development of a
Vulnerable Persons’ Policy.
• Kent Learning Disability Housing Group
The group, consisting of officers from
Dartford and Gravesham councils, Adult
Social Services, Learning Disability District
Partnershop Group, specialist housing
providers and Supporting People, meets
quarterly to implement the Learning
Disability Housing Action Plan.
• West Kent Joint Management Group
This is a multi-agency partnership, attended
by a representative from the Private Sector
Renewal team, which works towards
ensuring that a co-ordinated response is
given to the needs of disabled people in
private sector housing.

Agenda Item 6

WHAT IS THE NORTH KENT
MULTI AREA AGREEMENT?
Two sets of Multiple Area Agreements (MAA)
were signed by groups of councils from other
parts of the country in July 2008 and January
2009. The North Kent MAA was signed by
Dartford Borough Council in September 2009.

In addition initial work has been carried out on a
number of developing themes such as business
and enterprise, and culture and the environment.
The actions and targets contained in the MAA will
be built into council service plans and in the
overall performance management framework.

appropriate levels of support in place at the
start of their tenancy.

Page 37

A purely voluntary initiative, these agreements
are the result of a new style conversation
between central and local government. They
signal the drive within sub-regions to take
collective responsibility to improve prosperity,
tackle pockets of deprivation, and create places
where people want to live, work and play.

• Developing new investment and funding
mechanisms to underpin infrastructure
delivery
• Increasing skills and employability to equip
the workforce
• Securing sustainable transport and
connectivity
• Fostering sustainable communities in
tandem with housing growth.

HOW DO I GET MORE INFORMATION?
Dartford Borough Council produces the
following documents in addition to the Housing
Strategy:

25

HRA Business Plan
Sustainable Community Strategy
Private Sector Renewal Strategy
Empty Property Strategy
Homelessness Strategy
Older Persons’ Housing Strategy
Young Persons’ Housing Strategy
Domestic Abuse Housing Strategy
Allocations Policy
Local Development Framework

Please contact the Housing Policy and
Development team on 01322 343682 for details
on how to obtain these and other documents or
email housing.policy@dartford.gov.uk
You can also visit our website at
www.dartford.gov.uk for a wide range of
information about our services.
If you would like to learn more about becoming
involved or joining the Dartford Borough
Residents’ Forum please contact our Resident
Involvement Officer on 01322 343682.
If you know someone who cannot read this
document but would like to know of its content,
perhaps someone who has poor eyesight or
someone who has difficulty reading English, we
will endeavour to provide them with a copy in a
suitable format. Please contact us and we will
endeavour to meet your requirements.

26

Page 38

It also produces:
• Dartford Life
• ‘The Link’, tenant’s newsletter
• Tenants Handbook
• A wide variety of housing information leaflets
• In-house energy advice
• A selection of information leaflets on special
events, arts and culture, sports activities and
courses

Agenda Item 6

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Action plan: Strategic housing priorities and
targets for 2009 to 2012
A - INCREASE THE SUPPLY OF AFFORDABLE HOMES ACROSS THE BOROUGH
Number

Target

Date

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

2012

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Private sector subsidy
through section 106
contributions and grant
funding from the HCA

RSLs, private sector
housebuilders, Planning, the
Homes and Communities
Agency

A2

Provide 30% affordable housing
on all urban development sites
of over 15 units or more or over
1
/2 hectare

Annual

Development Control
Manager/Planning Policy
Manager

Private sector subsidy
through section 106
contributions and grant
funding from the HCA

Internal

A3

Provide 40 extra care supported
housing units for elderly
persons through the
Government’s Private Finance
Initiative

2011

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Commuted sum provision
from other development
site/KCC

KCC, RSLs, Developers

A4

Develop a model of affordability 2010
for affordable intermediate
housing

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing resources

RSLs

A5

Set up a Housing Strategy
monitoring group

2010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing resources

To be developed

A6

Implement the Older Persons’
Housing Strategy Action Plan

20092013

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing resources

KCC, RSLs

A7

Implement the Young Persons’
Housing Strategy Action Plan

20092012

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing resources

Youth Housing Local
Implementation Group

A8

Implement the Domestic Abuse
Housing Strategy Action Plan

20082011

Housing Options and Advice
Manager

Within existing resources

Dartford and Gravesham
Domestic Abuse Forum,
Women’s Aid

A9

Develop a North Kent Strategic
Housing Market Assessment

20112012

Housing Policy and
Development Manager/
Planning Policy Manager

To be agreed

Gravesham, Medway and
Swale local authorities

Agenda Item 6

Enable the delivery of 400 new
affordable homes (LAA target)

Page 39

A1

27

B - PREVENT HOMELESSNESS
Target

Date

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

B1

Implement the Homelessness
Strategy Action Plan

20082011

Housing Options and Advice
Manager

Within existing resources

Homelessness Strategy
Implementation Group

B2

Explore the feasibility of
providing an ‘Enhanced Housing
Options approach’ including
partnering with local employers
and provision of training
opportunities for local people

2010

Head of Housing

Within existing budgets

To be developed

Agenda Item 6

Number

C - IMPROVE HOMES, SERVICES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS

28

Target

Date

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

C1

Implement the Strategic
Housing Services Action Plan
stemming from the 2008 Audit
Commission housing inspection

20092010

Head of Housing Services

Within existing budgets

Internal

C2

Complete a review of the 30
year HRA Business Plan

Sept
2010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

Internal

C3

Complete the pilot North Kent
Single Conversation process

Apr
2010

Managing Director

Within existing budgets

Gravesham Borough
Council, HCA. Medway and
Swale Borough Councils

C4

Attain 100% decency
(Government Decent Homes
Standard)

Apr
2010

Head of Housing Services

Within existing budgets

Contractors

C5

Ensure that a sustainable mix of
housing is provided on large
development sites

Ongoing

Planning Policy Manager/
Development Control
Manager/Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Subject to 106 contributions
and grant funding from the
Homes and Communities
Agency

RSLs, private sector
housebuilders, the Homes
and Communities Agency

C6

Seek to ensure that all new
Onhomes reach level 3 for Code for going
Sustainable Homes

Development Control
Manager

N/A

RSLs and Developers

Page 40

Number

C - IMPROVE HOMES, SERVICES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS
Number

Target

Date

C7

Seek to ensure that all new
affordable homes meet, as a
minimum, the Scheme
Development Standards set by
the Housing Corporation

Ongoing

C8

Complete the Core Strategy
submssion to government

C9

Lead
Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Resources

Main Partners
RSLs

Autumn Planning Policy Manager
2010

Within existing budgets

Internal

Develop new Estate Agreements
based on the ‘Gunn Road’ model

20092012

Housing Manager

Within existing budgets

Internal, residents, Kent Police

C10

Consult with residents to
establish local standards for the
TSA’s regulation framework

Apr
2010

Housing Manager

Within existing budgets

Internal, residents

C11

Achieve top quartile performance 2009for SAP rating of council stock
2010

Head of Housing Services

Within existing budgets

Contractors

Page 41

N/A

D - IMPROVE HOUSING CONDITIONS IN THE PRIVATE SECTOR AND REDUCE THE NUMBER OF EMPTY HOMES
Number

Target

Date

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

Facilitate a quarterly Landlord’s
Forum

Ongoing

Private Sector Renewal
Manager

Within existing budgets

Local landlords

D2

Implement the Empty Property
Strategy Action Plan

20092012

Private Sector Renewal
Manager

Within existing budgets

Local landlords, RSLs

D3

Implement the Private Sector
Renewal Strategy Action Plan

20092012

Private Sector Renewal
Manager

DFG budget, funding from
Regional Housing Board,
Existing budgets

Local Landlords, RSLs, KCC,
Home Improvement
Agencies, CEN, KEC, Kent LAs

Agenda Item 6

D1

29

D - IMPROVE HOUSING CONDITIONS IN THE PRIVATE SECTOR AND REDUCE THE NUMBER OF EMPTY HOMES
Target
Accredit 15 new properties per
annum and to investigate
linking accreditation to the
Council’s private sector leasing
scheme (subject to provision of
additional resources)

D5

D6

20092012

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

Private Sector Renewal
Manager

Within existing budgets

Local landlords

Revise the Grant application
July
form for disabled adaptations to 2010
make it easier to read and
understand

Private Sector Renewal
Manager/Adaptations and
Renewals Officer

Within existing budgets

Internal

Submit application for Additional
Licensing to Communities and
Local Government following
consultation

Private Sector Renewal
Manager

Within existing budgets

Internal

March
2010

E - ENSURE THAT ALL RESIDENTS HAVE FAIR AND EQUAL ACCESS TO HOUSING
Number

30

Target

Date

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

E1

Facilitate a further Homebuy
event in partnership with Moat
Housing Group

20092010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Moat Housing Group

Moat Housing Group

E2

Seek to ensure that new
housing developments contain
an element of larger family
housing where appropriate

20092012

Development Control
Manager/Planning Policy
Manager/Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

RSLs, private developers

E3

Undertake a review of the
licensing arrangements at the
council-owned Gypsy and
Traveller site to take account of
new guidance contained in the
Mobile Homes Act 1983

2010

Head of Housing

Within existing budgets

Internal

Page 42

D4

Date

Agenda Item 6

Number

E - ENSURE THAT ALL RESIDENTS HAVE FAIR AND EQUAL ACCESS TO HOUSING
Number

Target

Date

Lead

Resources

Main Partners

2010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

To be developed

E5

Implement the Kent Learning
Disability Action Plan

2010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

KCC

E6

Carry out a Kent wide Learning
Disability housing needs
assessment

Feb
2010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

KCC, learning disability
providers, Supporting
People, District Partnership
Group, PCT, LAs

E7

Review the Council’s Choice
Based Lettings (CBL) Policy in
light of new Code of Guidance

2010

Housing Policy &
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

Internal

E8

Review the Council’s CBL scheme
following the implementation of
cross boundary lettings

20102011

Housing Options and Advice
Manager

Within existing budgets

Kent Home Choice partners

E9

Carry out a review of internal
application forms to ensure they
are easy to read and complete

2010

Housing Policy and
Development Manager

Within existing budgets

Internal

E10

Undertake Equality Impact
Assessments across the housing
service

20102011

Corporate Policy Advisor

Within existing budgets

Internal

E11

Fully develop a comprehensive
customer profiling database to
ensure that people have access
to appropriate information and
support

2010

Housing Policy and
Development Manager/
Management Analysis and
Intelligence team

Within existing budgets

Internal

E12

Implement a Single Equalities
Scheme taking account of
specific actions for the housing
service

2010

Head of Housing/Corporate
Policy

Within existing budgets

Internal

Agenda Item 6

Develop a Vulnerable Persons’
Policy

Page 43

E4

31

E - ENSURE THAT ALL RESIDENTS HAVE FAIR AND EQUAL ACCESS TO HOUSING

E13

Target
Identify sufficient Gypsy and
Traveller pitch capacity to meet
the South East Plan review
district allocation

Date
201020

Lead
Head of Housing/Private
Sector Renewal Manager

Resources
Within existing budgets

Main Partners
Residents

Agenda Item 6

Number

Page 44

32

Page 45

Agenda Item 6

Photo credits: Front cover: Comstock Images

Agenda Item 6
Page 46
If you or anybody you know requires this or any other council information in another language, please contact us and we will do our best to provide this for you. Braille, audio tape and
large print versions of this document are available upon request.
Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk
Calls are welcome via typetalk
Dartford Borough Council, Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR
www.dartford.gov.uk

Page 47

Agenda Item 7

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
14 OCTOBER 2020
COUNCIL NEW BUILD PROGRAMME UPDATE

1. Summary.
1.1. This report provides an update on the Council’s new build housing programme.
2. RECOMMENDATION
2.1. That the contents of the report be noted.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1. On 25 October 2012, The Council entered into an agreement with the
Secretary of State under the terms of which capital receipts from the sale of
Council homes were to be retained locally to be invested in the provision of
new affordable housing. Since then, the Council has developed three of its
sites in Temple Hill, providing 86 new homes for local people on the Council’s
housing register. All homes are fully occupied.
3.2. Ongoing Projects
3.3. As part of an ongoing process, four potential new build sites were identified to
take forward. These are detailed below:





Gilbert Close Garage site – 14 units
Milton Road Garage site – 7 units
Keary Road former Garage site – 6 units
Mead Crescent former depot – 3 wheelchair accessible units

3.4. Following consultation events held in 2019, and some amendments to the
original plans, and resident feedback, planning permission was granted for
Milton Road, Keary Road and Mead Crescent. A planning application for the
proposed scheme at Gilbert Close has been submitted. A decision is expected
on 8 October 2020. This particular scheme was delayed due to extended
archaeological surveys/works that have been required due to the sensitivity of
the site and its close proximity to the ‘Swanscombe Skull’ site; designated as
an area of special scientific interest. At the time of writing, these issues have
mostly been agreed by KCC and some ecology and archaeological works are
now commencing. Housing Services has also completed the conversion works
to the former office/lounge area at Hilltop Gardens into a 2 bedroom flat, which
is now occupied.

Agenda Item 7

Page 48
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
14 OCTOBER 2020

3.5. An OJEU compliant procurement exercise was carried out for a suitable
contractor to carry out the building works on all four sites. This exercise has
now been completed and the successful tenderer, TSG Building Services, has
been appointed and working on the sites.
3.6. The Housing team have also purchased a number of properties on the open
market; mainly former right to buy properties, and will continue to seek
opportunities to do this. A new Policy on the Acquisition of Private Properties
was presented to Cabinet on 23 July 2020 and approved [Min.No.xxx].
3.7. Looking ahead, the Housing team is currently assessing other potential
purchase and conversion opportunities and these will be identified and
feasibility studies undertaken, as required.
4.

Financial Considerations
4.1. The Council currently holds total retained receipts of £5.5m under the 1-4-1
receipts scheme, which projecting forwards would require an estimated spend
of £16.59m by 31/12/2022.
4.2. The 2020/2021 to 2022/23 Capital Programme includes £16.59m for new build
housing. An ongoing programme is factored into the Housing Revenue Account
Business Plan.
4.3. To date, as a participant in the 1-4-1 scheme, the Council has successfully
spent £13.9m delivering 86 new homes for local people and a further £1.83m
on the purchase of ten market properties since 2016. A further 5 properties are
currently in conveyance totalling £1.1m.
4.4. Under the conditions of the 1-4-1 scheme there has always been a risk that the
Council would be unable to spend sufficient 1-4-1 receipts before the end of
the rolling 3 year period. To mitigate this risk, the programme has been planned
and kept under review to minimise the risk of under achievement.
4.6. The Government has allowed some delay to spending, due to the pandemic,
until the end of December 2020 but the Council will be writing to them again to
request a further delay to facilitate and support our new build ambitions.
5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
5.6. To support the Council’s overall vision to make Dartford ‘the place of quality
and choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure
time.
5.7. To support the strategic aim to facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the
housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high

Page 49

Agenda Item 7

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD
14 OCTOBER 2020
quality services to service users; and to create strong and self-reliant
communities.
6. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments
Financial Implications

As detailed in this report.

Legal Implications

None

Staffing Implications

None

Administrative Implications None specifically at this stage
Risk Assessment

N/A

7. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable.
8. Appendices
None
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section
Exempt
and
Information
Directorate Category

Peter Dosad
(01322) 343327

Housing/
External
Services

N/A

Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank

